THE IMPACTS OF EXPOSURE TO FAT TALK AND FAT TALK CHALLENGING THROUGH SOCIAL MEDIA ON WOMEN

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF

TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY

DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY AND PHILOSOPHY

COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

BY

ALLY WADE, M.A.

DENTON, TEXAS

AUGUST 2016

DEDICATION

To my partner, Donald, for your continued love, support, and patience. You are always there in my times of need to support me, brainstorm with me, and empathize. Your belief in me has been unwavering and has taught me to have that same belief in myself.

To my parents, who have loved and supported me from the beginning. I have looked up to each of you in different ways. You have supported me in all of endeavors and built me up to have the confidence in myself to take on challenges personally, athletically, and academically. No words can thank you enough.

To my friends, for always being there for a laugh and a great time, for supporting me in all times of stress, and for doing anything you can to help me through any of my challenges.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am so honored to have the opportunity to thank those that have supported me and guided me through the successful completion of my dissertation. Firstly, I would like to thank my dissertation Chair Debra Mollen, Ph.D. I struggle to put into words just how grateful I am for her consistent support, mentorship, and guidance. Her care for her students is always evident and felt. Not only has she been both my Thesis and Dissertation Chair, but she has supported me from my first day in the Master's Counseling Psychology program, through my final days as Texas Woman's University, nearly 7 years later. The knowledge she has given me through her courses, her editing work, and professional and personal mentorship is unmatched. She taught me to value and recognize the privilege in being able to seek a doctoral degree, and I hope to never take my education for granted! She allowed me the space to create my own ideas, while also continually reassuring me in times of struggle. I am so honored to have had her as a mentor, a Chair, and a friend!

I would also like to express thanks to the members of my dissertation committee and Counseling Psychology Doctoral Program, Sally Stabb, Ph.D., and Jeff Harris, Ph.D. Their added input, feedback, and support was much appreciated and truly strengthened my work. I would also like to thank David Marshall, Ph.D. for his assistance and guidance with my statistics. Your flexibility and eagerness to join my team was apparent and valued.

I would like to again thank Sally Stabb, Ph.D. for your continued work as the Director of our Counseling Psychology Doctoral program. She is not recognized and thanked enough for all the effort put into every detail of the program from the first Professional Issues course taken to the day we walk across the stage at graduation. I could not have asked for a better training director, and am so honored to have worked with you!

I have been so fortunate to have met and worked with other amazing people at my internship at the Oklahoma Health Consortium. I have been given opportunities to do work I have longed to do for many years, and have been treated and trusted as a colleague. I want to especially thank my supervisors Karen Vaughn, Ph.D., Cody Commander, Ph.D., and Ricki Walker, Ph.D., for your continued encouragement and trust in me as a clinician. I would also like to thank my fellow interns for encouraging me and providing guidance in areas I struggled with.

Lastly, I would like to thank my friends in the program who have both been a place for laughs, support, consultation, and true empathy. To Justine Kallaugher, Kathryn Keller, Evan Bodine, and Danica Harris for being with me through the fun and more difficult times in our program.

ABSTRACT

ALLY WADE

THE IMPACTS OF EXPOSURE TO FAT TALK AND FAT TALK CHALLENGING THROUGH SOCIAL MEDIA ON WOMEN

AUGUST 2016

Fat talk, conversations including peers mutually degrading their own bodies, has become increasingly commonplace among women in the United States (U.S.). Decades of research has revealed fat talk conversations result in increased body dissatisfaction. With the popularity of social networking sites, it is likely that fat talk conversations saturate the profile pages of many. However, few have researched the differing impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online. Researchers have become interested in ways to protect women against the deleterious impacts of witnessing fat talk conversations. The current investigation aimed to fill gaps in the literature by studying the reactions of 613 women participants who viewed fat talk conversations of overweight and thin women on Facebook. The conversations were either perpetuated or challenged by other simulated Facebook users. Participants viewed either a thin or a fat woman of the same ethnicity as the participant. After viewing the fat talk conversations, participants completed a demographic questionnaire; questions from Project EAT (Larson, Neumark-Sztainer, Story, van den Berg, & Hannan, 2011), assessing for body image; the Body Dissatisfaction Subscale of the Eating Disorder Iventory-3 (Garner, 2004), assessing for

body dissatisfaction; and the Self-Objectification Questionnaire (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998), assessing for self-objectification. The investigator hypothesized that participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated would have the highest body dissatisfaction and highest levels of self-objectification of any of the experimental conditions, which was not supported in the findings. The investigator also hypothesized that participants who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was challenged would have the lowest body dissatisfaction and lowest levels of self-objectification of any of the experimental conditions, which was also not supported in the findings. The investigator expected to find differing impacts on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification based on race/ethnicity, body size, and sexual orientation which was partially supported: race and perceived weight predicted body dissatisfaction, while BMI and perceived weight predicted self-objectification. Hypotheses were tested with between subjects ANOVAs and a multiple regression. Results of an exploratory analysis revealed a significant difference in body dissatisfaction between racial groups.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I	Page
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	iv
ABSTRACT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
Chapter	
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	10
Thin Beauty Ideal	10
Body Image	11
Body Image Disturbances	12
Body Image and the Thin Beauty Ideal	13
Body Image Disturbances and Disordered Eating	
Overview of Eating Disorders	
Anorexia Nervosa	15
Bulimia Nervosa	16
Fat Talk	16
Roles of Fat Talk	
Who Engages in Fat Talk?	
Gender Differences	
Sexual Orientation and Gender	
Racial, Ethnic, and National Differences	
Thin Versus Overweight Women	
Women with Eating Disorders	
Impacts of Fat Talk	
Body Dissatisfaction and Eating Disorders	29

	Self-Objectification	33
	Other Impacts of Fat Talk	
	Benefits of Positive Body Talk and Challenging of Fat Talk	
	Social Networking	
	Social Networking and Body Image Concerns	
	Social Networking and Self-Objectification	
	Social Networking and Depression	
	Social Networking and Other Mental Health Consequences	
	Fat Talk and Social Media	
	Positive Impacts of Social Networking Use	
	Summary and Rationale for the Current Study	
III. M	ИЕТНОD	59
	Participants	59
	Instrumentation	62
	Demographic Questionnaire	62
	Project EAT Questions	62
	Self-Objectification Questionnaire	63
	Eating Disorder Inventory-3	64
	Procedure	
	Analysis	68
IV. R	RESULTS	72
	Preliminary Analyses	72
	Pilot Testing	72
	Descriptive Statistics	73
	Analyses for Major Hypotheses	76
V. D	ISCUSSION	83
	Summary of Major Findings	83
	Integration with Existing Literature	
	Implications for Theory	94
	Implications for Practice	97
	Implications for Training	100
	Implications for Research	101
	Strengths of the Study	104
	Limitations of the Study	104
	Conclusion	106

REFERENCES
APPENDICES
A. Demographics Questionnaire
B. Project EAT Questions
C. Self-Objectification Questionnaire
D. The Body Dissatisfaction Subscale of the Eating Disorder Inventory-3 141
E. Informed Consent
F. List of Referral Sources
G. Debriefing
H. Recruitment Letter
I. Stimulus Photos

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Hypotheses 5 and 6	57
2. Descriptive Statistics for Education, Ethnicity, and Sexual Orientation	59
3. Descriptive Statistics for Sample Demographics: Continuous Variables	60
4. Pilot Study Overall Means	73
5. Descriptive Data for Dependent Variables	74
6. Ethnicity and EDI-3 BD Scores	76
7. ANOVA Table for Hypothesis 7	80
8. Correlation Coefficients for Major Variables	80
9. Regression Weights and Means	81
10. ANOVA Table for Hypothesis 8	81
11. Correlation Coefficients for Major Variables	82
12. Regression Weights and Means	82

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. CDC Categories	67

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Almost 30 years ago, researchers noted that body dissatisfaction among women in the U.S. had become so commonplace, it was labeled normative discontent (Rodin, Silberstein, & Striegel-Moore, 1984). Since that time, women's dissatisfaction and discomfort with their bodies has perpetuated. In fact, Cash and Pruzinsky (2004) found that the number of women who are dissatisfied with their bodies has continued to increase over the last decades. Such findings are consistent with U.S. mainstream culture's promotion of a narrow standard for, coupled with a strong emphasis on the importance of, physical beauty. Levine and Smolak (1996) noted that for women in the U.S., thinness and beauty are typically equated with one another. Therefore, the numerous women who are not thin may have difficulties with body dissatisfaction.

Body dissatisfaction and promotion of the thin beauty ideal have been found to be related to a number of deleterious consequences. For instance, Cash and Pruzinsky (1990) found that body image disturbances are associated with low self-esteem, eating disorder symptomatology, and depression. Similarly, internalization of the thin beauty ideal found in the U.S. is associated with negative affect, disordered eating behaviors, and an increased drive for thinness (Harrison & Hefner, 2006; Levine & Smolak, 1996).

With such persistence of women's body dissatisfaction in the U.S. and internalization of the thin beauty ideal (Cash & Pruzinsky, 2004), researchers have begun

to investigate the method of transmission of these messages. While mass media, such as television, radio, and the Internet, have often been the focus of the source of thin-promoting messages (Grabe, Ward, & Hyde, 2008), interpersonal conversations between women also contribute to the increase in internalization of the thin beauty ideal and increase in body dissatisfaction among women. Nichter and Vuckovic (1994) were among the first to study the ways in which middle and high school girls spoke to each other about their bodies. They found that many young girls degraded themselves by commenting on what they did not like about their bodies. These researchers found that once a self-degrading conversation was initiated, more often than not, a peer would join in and discuss the ways in which she, too, was fat.

In the past two decades, a number of researchers have studied these conversations and coined the term *fat talk*. Although Nichter and Vuckovic (1994) posited that these conversations mainly took place among middle and high school girls, others quickly found that these fat talk conversations persisted well beyond the walls of high school campuses. Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) emphasized that fat talk is a mutually self-degrading conversation about one's size or shape of their body that occurs between women of all ages.

Fat talk conversations have four major themes. Corning and Gondoli (2012) noted that fat talk conversations almost always include one or more of the following topics: expressing the fear of gaining weight or becoming fat, exchanging dieting or exercise tips or helpful suggestions, comparing eating or exercise behaviors, and evaluating the appearance of someone not present. Clarke, Murnen, and Smolak (2010) found three

topic areas that regularly arise during fat talk conversations: talk about one's body shape, future weight, or current eating or exercise behaviors. Nichter and Vuvkovic (1994) noted that interjecting a statement about feeling fat becomes a catchall as a way to express a range of feelings, such as feeling poorly or having a bad day. Nichter noted that initiating a fat talk conversation may be a way of asking for confirmation that one is not fat, or seeking social support around feeling guilty for eating poorly or not exercising (2000).

Fat talk is now understood to be a socially acceptable and commonplace conversation among many girls and women in the U.S. (Corning & Gondoli, 2012). Adams (2014) referred to fat talk as a "social epidemic" (para. 2). Researchers have identified several deleterious consequences both of engaging in and hearing fat talk. Engaging in fat talk is associated with increased dieting behaviors, increased preoccupations with food, and an increased drive for thinness and symptoms of eating disorders (Kichler & Crowther, 2009; Thompson et al., 2007). In addition to these associations, fat talk has been found to cause an increase in body dissatisfaction levels in women who are exposed to these conversations (Corning, Bucchianeri, & Pick, 2014).

Although researchers have begun to study the frequency and types of fat talk conversations among men, fat talk is most commonly observed among girls and women in the U.S. (Martz, Petroff, Curtin, & Bazzini, 2009) and, for this reason, will be the focus of the current investigation. However, questions remain about the dynamics of fat talk and how to temper its deleterious outcomes. For instance, although research has been conducted around body dissatisfaction among White and non-White women, little is known about fat talk conversations among non-White women. In most studies

researching fat talk and its impacts, the majority of participants have been White undergraduate university students (i.e., Corning & Gondoli, 2012; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011, 2012). Only a few researchers have investigated the relationship between fat talk and ethnicity and these have focused on differences between students from the U.S., Japan, and Korea (Lee, Taniguchi, Modica, & Park, 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012). In light of the sparseness of research in this area, many questions about race, ethnicity, and fat talk remain.

Very little work has been done to study fat talk conversations among sexual minority women. Although Jankowski, Diedrichs, and Halliwell (2014) studied the differences in frequency and content of fat talk conversations in gay versus heterosexual men, to the author's knowledge, no researchers have studied whether and how fat talk conversations may impact lesbian or bisexual women.

Women with eating disorders have been repeatedly found to engage in frequent social comparisons. Women with eating disorders have also engaged in fat talk (Corning, Krumm, & Smitham, 2006; Ousley, Cordero, & White, 2008) more frequently than women who have not been diagnosed with an eating disorder. While thin women with and without eating disorders have been studied, much less is known about the impact body size or weight may play among women of more diverse body types.

Important definitional and term usages need clarification at the outset of this study. First, the term Body Mass Index (BMI), an index that is calculated by multiplying one's weight in pounds by 703 and then dividing by height in inches squared (Wollner, Blackburn, Spellman, Khaodhiar, & Blackburn, 2010), is used regularly in body image

research. Many researchers have used the terms *normal* and *average* to refer to women with BMIs that fall within the range been deemed normal by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2014) (i.e., 18.5 to 24.9). However, such labels of *normal* and *average* create a conundrum as these words suggest that the majority of women fall between these ranges. However, given that the average size of women in the U.S. is larger than many cultures, the term *average* may be deceiving. In fact, according to the CDC (2012), the average size of a woman in the U.S. is 16 and the average weight is 166.2 pounds. Furthermore, using such terms tends to idealize those whose weights fall within the smaller BMI range. Further, there are a number of problems with using BMI to classify whether one is of average size or not. The calculation for BMI ignores several factors that can impact one's weight, such as age, sex, amount of muscle mass, and ethnicity (CDC, 2014). However, due to the widespread use and applicability in research, the current investigator plans to use BMI calculations in spite of these limitations.

In the current investigation, when discussing previous studies, original language will be retained, including *average*, *healthy*, and *normal*. However, for the purpose of this investigation, the terms *thin* and *overweight* were used. The investigator used the term *overweight* as it appears to be the term most commonly used in the research literature. The term *thin* was used to describe someone who falls at the edge between the CDC categories of normal and underweight (CDC, 2014). The term *overweight* was used to describe someone that falls at the edge between the CDC categories of overweight and Obese 1 (CDC, 2014). The investigator intentionally avoided the terms *average*, *healthy*,

and *normal* due to the issues previously noted (i.e., *average* and *normal* imply that the majority of women in the U.S. fall into this particular weight range when that is factually inaccurate).

For the most part, fat talk conversations are generally thought to occur between average, or normal-weight, women (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011), with some researchers suggesting that larger women may engage in fat talk less often as a means not to draw attention to themselves and their body size (Nichter, 2000). Some research has been conducted on the impacts of viewing or hearing women who range from thin to overweight engage in fat talk (Corning et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012). However, little research has been conducted to look specifically at how the size of the person viewing or hearing fat talk impacts their body dissatisfaction levels.

Some researchers have begun to search for ways to counteract or protect women from the impacts of fat talk. Fortunately, some have found that the challenging of fat talk, which include comments such as critiquing women's tendencies to engage in fat talk, as opposed to challenging that the person initiating the fat talk is not actually fat, is linked with lowered levels of body dissatisfaction and guilt (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012).

The use of social networking websites, which are those designed for communicating with friends, peers, family and co-workers (Facebook, 2011a), has exponentially increased in the past decade. Social networking websites include Twitter, Facebook, and My Space. While researchers have studied the association between social networking site use and depression, body image concerns, and other mental health consequences, few other than Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al. (2013) have

studied the intricacies of social networking and fat talk. Because both the study by Taniguchi and Lee (2012), and the study by Lee et al. (2013) found that viewing fat talk online impacted participants' body satisfaction levels, it seems even more imperative that the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations through social media websites be investigated.

The current study aimed to fill a number of gaps in the current fat talk literature. To date, only Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al. (2013) have studied the varying impacts of race and ethnicity on fat talk conversations and these were limited to participants from Japan, Korea, and the U.S. The current study's first aim was to examine the differences in the impact of viewing fat talk conversations based on one's race or ethnicity.

The current investigation also aimed to extend upon the research conducted by Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al. (2013) by analyzing the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online through a social media website (Facebook) on women. Further, the researcher analyzed the impact of challenging fat talk. Given that Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2012) found that those women who witnessed the challenging of fat talk had lower levels of body dissatisfaction than those who witnessed fat talk that went unchallenged, the impacts of challenging fat talk appear promising. The researcher further aimed to expand upon this literature by determining if similar effects were found when witnessing the challenging of fat talk on a popular social media website.

To date, only a few investigators, such as those conducted by Lee et al. (2013), Corning et al. (2014), and Taniguchi and Lee (2012) have researched the impacts of fat

talk on women of various sizes. These researchers studied the impacts of hearing or viewing women ranging from thin to overweight engage in fat talk. However, the majority of these participants were classified as normal, or of average, weight according to the researchers. The current study aimed to extend this line of research to determine if there are differing impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online based on the size of the person engaging in the fat talk. Further, the current study aimed to examine the differing impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online based on participants' body size.

The research questions that guided the current investigation are as follows:

- 1. How does exposure to an online fat talk conversation impact body image when the profile user's weight varies from thin to overweight?
- 2. How does exposure to an online fat talk conversation impact self-objectification when the profile user's weight varies from thin to overweight?
- 3. How does exposure to an online fat talk conversation that is challenged by a profile viewer impact body dissatisfaction levels?
- 4. How does exposure to an online fat talk conversation that is challenged by a profile viewer impact self-objectification levels?
- 5. How does the interaction of the body size of the person engaging in fat talk and the challenge or perpetuation of fat talk impact body dissatisfaction?
- 6. How does the interaction of the body size of the person engaging in fat talk and the challenge or perpetuation of fat talk impact self-objectification?

- 7. How does a participant's age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight impact their body dissatisfaction levels when exposed to fat talk on a social media website?
- 8. How does a participant's age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight impact their self-objectification levels when exposed to fat talk on a social media website?

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Thin Beauty Ideal

Like most Western nations, U.S. culture places a high value on appearance. Being considered physically attractive holds many benefits in society: attractive people are seen as more appealing as romantic partners, they make more money, and are assumed to be more intelligent than those deemed unattractive (Frieze, Olson, & Russell, 1991). Similarly, Thompson and Heinberg (1999) noted that, particularly for women, physical appearance is of utmost importance in Western culture. Because of the importance placed on attractiveness, many women are highly focused on their appearance. While these cultural norms apply to both men and women, women especially are pressured to meet narrow standards for attractiveness. In fact, sometimes women's bodies and appearance evaluations are used to define them as a whole, as opposed to considering other factors (i.e., personality, intelligence, skills) about each individual woman (Fredrickson & Roberts, 1997).

One well-articulated standard in Western culture is the thin beauty ideal. Levine and Smolak (1996) described this ideal as the notion that thinness is a prerequisite to be considered attractive in Western culture. Thompson and Heinberg (1999) noted that a woman's value is often based on her beauty, and for women, beauty is conceptualized as being thin, attractive, young, and fit. Because of such standards, many women in Western

nations are dissatisfied with their bodies. In fact, Rodin et al. (1984) found body dissatisfaction among women to be so common that it became labeled a normative discontent. Although some researchers contend that such widespread body dissatisfaction is due only to individual issues or familial influences (Holmstrom, 2004), it is hard not to recognize the influence culture and societal messages have on women. Cash and Pruzinsky (2004) posited that instead of defining women's higher likelihood to be dissatisfied with their bodies as an individual problem, such dissatisfaction should be seen more as a reflection of the systemic gendered messages communicated to women and girls and the dominant U.S. culture's tendency to objectify women's bodies. Further, Slevec and Tiggemann (2011) posited a sociocultural theory which explains that much of the high levels of body dissatisfaction in women today are due to this unrealistic thin beauty ideal that exists in Western culture.

Body Image

The construct of body image has been studied for over a century, although concurrence on how to define body image took decades to develop. Body image as a construct and topic of research continues to evolve. One of the earliest definitions was generated by Schilder (1950), who described body image as the way in which people picture and perceive their bodies in their mind's eye, or the ways in which one's body appears to him- or herself. Later, researchers suggested that most understand body image as including two major components: perceptual and attitudinal body image (Rucker & Cash, 1992). These authors described perceptual body image as the way in which one perceives or estimates the size of his or her body, including cognitive distortions and

influences from societal standards. Rucker and Cash noted that attitudinal body image includes the feelings, affect, thoughts, and behaviors one has about his or her size or appearance.

Body Image Disturbances

Researchers have seen a steady increase in dissatisfaction with one's body image, particularly for women (Cash & Pruzinsky, 2004). In fact, Garner (1997) found that while 23% of women in 1972 were dissatisfied with their overall appearance, by 1996, 56% of women were dissatisfied with their overall appearance. The fact that the percentage of women who were dissatisfied with their overall appearance more than doubled in just over 20 years prompted many researchers to take a closer look at this phenomenon.

Research on the correlation between body image, including body image disturbances, and other constructs, dates back for many decades. Body image disturbances are correlated with constructs such as eating disturbances, self-esteem, and depression (Cash & Pruzinsky, 1990). Cash and Brown (1987) found that pathological eating is significantly related to body image disturbances. Further, Thompson and Thompson (1986) found a significant and negative correlation between one's subjective estimate of their size, which is a component of body image, and self-esteem. These authors found that the larger the overestimation of her own size a woman had, the lower her self-esteem. Along similar lines, Taylor and Cooper (1986) found a negative relationship between the amount of size overestimation a woman had, or the amount of inaccuracy she had about her true size, and her level of depression.

Body Image and the Thin Beauty Ideal

Given the consequences associated with body image disturbances, the increased rates of women with body image disturbances and dissatisfaction have been a cause for concern, particularly among psychologists. Many researchers have looked to cultural and societal influences to explain the upward trend in dissatisfaction with one's body image. Research has revealed that the pressure placed on women in the U.S. and other Western nations comes with a cost. Levine and Smolak (1996) noted that pressures to be thin can result in body image concerns, affective issues, and disordered eating behaviors in women. Similarly, both Stice and Bearman (2001) and Harrison and Hefner (2006) found that sociocultural pressures for thinness are associated with a number of deleterious consequences such as negative affect, eating disorder symptoms, an increased drive for thinness, and body image disturbances, Garner, Garfinkel, Schwartz, and Thompson (1980) posited that these negative impacts of the thin beauty ideal likely stem from the fact that over time, society's role models and media images portray thinner and thinner women as the standard, while women have been growing physically larger. This process leaves more and more women not fitting into Western culture's standards of beauty and yields increasing numbers of women who are unhappy with their appearance and bodies. Neumark-Sztainer et al. (2002) indicated that body dissatisfaction has become so common that it may seem normal for some women. For instance, Neumark-Sztainer et al. found that 66% of adolescent girls were attempting to lose weight and Cash and Henry (1995) determined that 50% of adult women dislike the way they look.

Body Image Disturbances and Disordered Eating

Disordered eating behaviors have become increasingly common among women, with 1 in every 100 women binging or purging at some point in her lifetime in an attempt to lose weight (National Association of Anorexia Nervosa and Associated Disorders, 2014). Further, Becker, Burwell, Herzog, Hamburg, and Gilman (2002) hypothesized that increases in mass media and access to media since the mid-1990s (i.e., television and Internet) may also be influencing the rates of disordered eating and eating disorder symptoms. These researchers found, for example, that adolescent Fijian girls had significant increases in eating disorder symptoms after exposure to Westernized television programming.

Eating disorders, body image disturbances, and disordered eating are more common in women as compared to men. Bordo (2004) argued that fat stigmatization is gendered in nature and women are held to a narrower standard than men when it comes to their appearance. Furthermore, according to the American Psychiatric Association (APA) (2000), men are less likely to be diagnosed with an eating disorder. Wardle, Haase, and Steptoe (2006) studied people in 22 different countries and found that women were more likely to believe they were overweight and more likely to attempt to lose weight than men, regardless of their weight or size. When conducting research across nations in the European Union, McElhone, Kearney, Giachetti, Zunft, and Martínez (1999) found that 50% of men were satisfied with their weight and bodies, compared to 33% of women.

Body image disturbances are found not only to be a risk factor for clinical eating disorders, but are also a major aspect of the disorders themselves (Rosen, 1990).

Similarly, Thompson and Stice (2001) posited that although internalization of the thin ideal is not the sole cause of eating disorders, it can be a major risk factor for the development of eating disorders.

Overview of Eating Disorders

According to the Renfrew Center Foundation for Eating Disorders (2003), it is estimated that 24 million people of all ages and genders struggle with an eating disorder in the U.S. Ousley et al. (2008) noted that eating disorders, body image concerns, and sub-clinical disordered eating occur more in female college students than in any other population, with 25-45% of female collegiate students reporting dysfunctional eating behaviors and attitudes.

Anorexia nervosa. Anorexia is one of the two most commonly known eating disorders. In order to qualify for a diagnosis of anorexia nervosa, one must meet the following criteria, according to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 5:* a fear of becoming fat or gaining weight, refusing to maintain a body weight that could be considered normal or minimally normal based on one's age and height, believing one is larger than they really are or denying the severity of weight loss, not seeing oneself for how she or he truly appears, and not understanding the severity of his or her low body weight (APA, 2013). Although anorexia nervosa is easily recognized and well-known by the general U.S. public, the clinical diagnosis occurs in only .05% of the population in the U.S. Of those individuals diagnosed with anorexia, 10% are men (APA, 2013). In fact, women are 10 times more likely than men to be diagnosed with anorexia nervosa,

although it is arguable that these trends are changing, and the actual incidence rates are unknown for men (APA, 2013).

Bulimia nervosa. Bulimia nervosa is the other most prevalent eating disorder in the U.S. According to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 5*, criteria for bulimia nervosa include: having recurrent episodes of binge eating in which the eating is defined as discrete and/or out of control; inappropriate and repetitive purging behaviors to avoid weight gain. These purging behaviors include misusing laxatives, diuretics, or enemas; self-induced vomiting, fasting, or excessive exercise; during a 3-month time period. The binging and purging behaviors must occur at least twice a week; one's evaluation of themselves is highly influenced by their body weight and appearance; and such disturbances cannot occur during an episode of anorexia nervosa (APA, 2013). The lifetime prevalence rate of bulimia nervosa is somewhat higher than anorexia nervosa, occurring in 1-1.5% of the population. Bulimia nervosa occurs much more often in women, as men are only diagnosed 10% of the time (APA, 2013). While previously two types of bulimia were recognized: the purging type and the non-purging type (APA, 2000), bulimia nervosa now only encompasses the purging type. The non-purging type is now described as binge-eating disorder (APA, 2013). Another criterion which differentiates Bulimia Nervosa from Binge-Eating Disorder is that self-evaluation is based off of one's body image, shape, or weight with Bulimia Nervosa (APA, 2013).

Fat Talk

Concurrent with the increase in research on body image and eating disorders among women in the U.S., researchers have also begun to explore how such cultural

messages and ideals have impacted women. Although messages about beauty ideals and standards are communicated in a number of ways (i.e., through media images), social commentary (including weight stigma which emerges from and contributes to the internalization of the thin beauty ideal) and speaking about one's body, particularly the dissatisfaction with it, is one way thin ideals are supported and reinforced (Grabe et al., 2008). Slevec and Tiggemann (2011) agreed and emphasized that messages related to the Western thin beauty ideal are sent not only though mass media, but also via friends and family members. Bailey and Ricciardelli (2010) posited that these conversations represent the internalization of Western culture's values about appearance and thin ideals.

Such conversations, designated as *fat talk* by Nichter and Vuckovic (1994), were originally thought to occur mainly between middle and high school girls. Currently, fat talk conversations are described as any discussion among peers who mutually degrade the size and shape of their bodies (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011). Although most common in groups of young women, researchers have found that these conversations can take place among adolescent girls, young women, older women, and men and boys (Engeln, Sladek, & Waldron, 2013). Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) noted that such conversations have become so commonplace that fat talk conversations are instantly recognizable by those who live in Western cultures.

Corning and Gondoli (2012) conceptualized fat talk conversations as including a statement about one's perceived standing compared to another's regarding one's body. Further, these authors emphasized that social comparison, which is common among individuals with low self-esteem, social anxiety, and eating disorders (Corning et al.,

2006), is an integral component of fat talk. Corning and Gondoli (2012) posited that fat talk conversations have four major themes: comparing the eating and/or exercise behaviors of oneself to another, exchanging dieting or exercise strategies or tips, evaluating the appearance of others who are not present, and expressing fear of gaining or becoming overweight. Similarly, Clarke et al. (2010) found fat talk conversations included topics such as current or future weight (i.e., "I will get fat"), eating behaviors (i.e., "I can't eat this"), and body shape (i.e., "My hips are too wide").

Ousley et al. (2008) indicated that fat talk conversations are found to be socially acceptable, particularly among women. Corning and Gondoli (2012) described fat talk as a social phenomenon taking place within a group dynamic whereby a predictable response of self-degradation follows another's initiation of a conversation with negative comments about oneself. Britton, Martz, Bazzini, Curtin, and LeaShomb (2006) conducted a study in which college students read vignettes of a fat talk conversation and predicted how women would respond. Both male and female participants predicted that the most typical response for a woman would be to degrade herself, as opposed to praising herself or saying nothing. Further, Tompkins, Martz, Rochelean, and Bazzini (2009) surveyed female undergraduate students and found that participants predicted women to be most liked by other women if they matched the type of fat talk being used. These participants acknowledged a social pressure which encourages women to either speak positively or negatively about their bodies based on how the rest of the group discusses their bodies. Further, Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) found that women

commonly responded with an attempt to convince a fat-talking peer that they were not overweight or fat.

Fat talk conversations have become so prevalent in U.S. culture that some have referred to it as a social epidemic (Adams, 2014). Adams highlighted that fat talk is not limited to the hallways of high school and middle school; it is also projected into homes through mass media, television, and film. Adams noted that the mass media does more than send widespread images and messages reinforcing the thin ideal; a number of television shows and films also model women self-deprecating and engaging in fat talk. Adams noted that with such a high prevalence of fat talk and fat- shaming messages, it is unsurprising that so many women engage in fat talk.

Roles of Fat Talk

Fat talk conversations serve a particular function (Nichter, 2000). For example, women may engage in fat talk conversations because of peer pressure alone or because they are attempting to fit into societal norms pertaining to standards of beauty. Some see fat talk as consistent with social psychologists' ideas about conformity, social norms (Schienker, 1975), and impression management, the attempt to construct a certain perception of oneself through manipulating their speech or actions (Leary et al., 1994). Adams (2014) concurred, and noted that so many women engage in fat talk primarily because other women are engaging in it.

Nichter (2000) also recognized that fat talk can be prosocial, used as a way to show empathy or support to another. Given that engaging in fat talk typically consists of self-disclosure, such states of vulnerability can strengthen interpersonal relationships.

Because of this, Nichter questioned if engaging in fat talk was one way women attempted to find closeness and build connections with other women. Nichter (2000) explored other roles or purposes fat talk conversations may serve. Nichter found that stating the simple words, "I am fat" may describe a wide range of emotions (i.e., disgust, disappointment, sadness, and frustration). Such statements may also be used to encourage a certain response from a peer, such as reassurance that one is not fat.

Who Engages in Fat Talk?

While earlier researchers believed fat talk occurred only among adolescent middle and high school girls (Nichter & Vuckovic, 1994), Corning and Gondoli (2012) noted that fat talk has become a normative aspect of conversation between women and girls characterized by negative discussions of food, weight, body shape, and body size. Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) concurred and found that fat talk can occur among all types of women of varying ages. Recent research has investigated whether fat talk may extend beyond White girls and women, whom it was originally thought to impact most.

Gender differences. Although most topics dealing with body image and eating disorders tend to be more associated with women, Muth and Cash (1997) noted that a significant proportion of men are also dissatisfied with their bodies. Because most body image constructs and measures have been constructed to capture women's experiences, men's body image disturbances may be overlooked (Cash & Smolak, 2011). For instance, men tend to be less concerned about thinness and instead have a desire for muscularity (Ridgeway & Tylka, 2005; Smolak & Murnen, 2008). Daniel and Bridges (2010) noted that as with women, media influences and standards of beauty influence

men and likely encourage them to be seen as muscular and macho. Pope, Phillips, and Olivardia (2000) promulgated the idea that gender equalization occurring in the U.S. may be influencing the increase in body dissatisfaction among men. As men's statuses shift, they may feel more pressure to obtain a masculine look which includes a muscular, lean body (Pope et al., 2000) Martin and Govender (2011) found that body dissatisfaction among men was positively related to having traditional gender norms and beliefs about masculinity. Olivardia, Pope, and Hudson (2000) found that men suffer from body dysmorphic disorder, defined as perceiving one's body negatively and inaccurately, just as women do. The difference is that men are more likely to see themselves as smaller and less muscular, as opposed to fatter. According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) the rates of body dysmorphic disorder are just slightly higher in women. Prevalence rates for women are at 2.5%, while 2.2% of men will be diagnosed with this disorder. According to the American Psychiatric Association (2013), cultural influences surrounding beauty ideals may influence and relate to this diagnosis, with the muscle dysmorphia specifier responsible for a high percentage of the prevalence rates among men.

Dindia and Allen (1992) found that, in general, women self-disclose more in conversations than men, which arguably increases the opportunities for fat talk to occur among women. Furthermore, self-degradation has been deemed normal in conversations with women (Barwick, Bazzini, Martz, Rocheleau, & Curtin, 2012; Britton, Martz, Bazzini, Curtin, & LeaShomb 2006). Martz et al. (2009) found that U.S. women more frequently hear fat talk conversations and feel more pressure to engage in fat talk than

men. Further, Payne, Martz, Tompkins, Petroff, and Farrow (2011) found that fat talk is more common among women than men. They also found that in the United Kingdom (U.K.) and U.S., fat talk among women is more common than positive talk about one's body. Although both men and women are exposed to negative body talk and fat talk conversations, Martz et al. found that women feel more pressure than men to participate in fat talk conversations.

Because of these differences, more nuanced applications of fat talk definitions are needed to capture better experiences that may vary based on gender. For example, instead of hearing talk about how to lose weight, negative body talk among men may center more on how to gain muscle (Engeln et al., 2013). When this more encompassing definition was used, 25% of the 66 college male participants believed that negative body talk occurred very frequently amongst men (Engeln et al., 2013). Further, men discussed muscularity issues and concerns significantly more than thinness or fear of being fat.

Martz et al. (2009) found that compared to 4% of U.K. men, 21.6% of U.S. men reported engaging in negative body talk. Furthermore, Engeln et al. found a positive relationship between the frequency of negative body talk and the drive for muscularity and investment in appearance for men.

Sexual orientation and gender. Morrison, Morrison, and Sager (2004) found that gay men may be at higher risk for body dissatisfaction and striving to be thin compared to their heterosexual counterparts. Silberstein, Mishkind, Striegel-Moore, Timko, and Rodin (1989) found that the gay culture may put particular pressure on men to obtain a physically attractive appearance. Hospers and Jansen (2005) concurred and

suggested that gay men may experience more cultural pressure around being fit and thin than their heterosexual counterparts. Gay men have also reported higher levels of body dissatisfaction and increased amounts of disordered and maladaptive eating behaviors (Carper, Negy, & Tantleff-Dunn, 2010). Studying the specific differences in fat talk conversations between gay and heterosexual men, Jankowski et al. (2014) found that gay men more frequently engage in both positive and negative body talk compared to heterosexual men.

Although some researchers have begun exploring fat talk conversations among gay and heterosexual men, no studies were found on fat talk among bisexual men, bisexual women, or lesbians. Clearly, more research is needed in the area of sexual orientation and fat talk.

Although researchers have found differences in body image concerns and fat talk among heterosexual and gay men, most agree that fat talk and body image concerns are more common among women. Women are less likely to consider themselves attractive when compared to men and have higher levels of body image disturbance and dissatisfaction (Fiengold & Mazzella, 1998), and such body dissatisfaction and disturbances have been repeatedly found to relate to fat talk (Corning et al., 2014).

Racial, Ethnic, and national differences. Ousley et al. (2008) noted that eating disorders and eating pathology are often considered culturally bound (i.e., they are more commonly observed among individuals from Western cultures such as the nations in Western Europe, Australia, South Africa, and the U.S.). Gruys (2012) noted that body

concerns and fat talk are so common among White women that fat talk can be described as a way of *doing gender*, as women are pressured to be both thin and self-deprecating.

Some international research has been conducted regarding similarities and differences in fat talk. When comparing women from the U.S. and the U.K., for example, Payne et al. (2011) found that U.S. women had more exposure and pressure to participate in fat talk than their U.K. counterparts. However, Martz et al. (2009) found that 51% of U.K. women frequently engaged in fat talk, compared to 39.6% of U.S. women.

Lee et al. (2013) researched the impacts of viewing fat talk on a Facebook profile page on both U.S. and Korean women. They selected 137 Korean and 159 U.S. college women for their study. Results revealed that the body satisfaction of the Korean women who viewed an underweight woman engaging in fat talk was significantly lower than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk online. The researchers found no significant differences for the U.S. women participants.

Similarly, Taniguchi and Lee (2012) studied the impacts of viewing fat talk on Facebook profiles among 96 U.S. and 103 Japanese college women. The witnessing of thin-promoting messages, which is one version of fat talk, online was correlated with decreased psychological well-being for both the students from the U.S. and the students from Japan. Taniguchi and Lee also found that witnessing thin-promoting messages via Facebook was linked with increases in body dissatisfaction for Japanese women, while this finding was not evidenced among the U.S. women.

Although body image concerns and fat talk have repeatedly been found among
White women, the research findings are mixed when it comes to non-White women. Of

note, most of the research conducted to date with non-White women has focused more on body dissatisfaction generally and less on fat talk specifically. For instance, Grabe and Hyde (2006) conducted a meta-analysis of 98 studies and found that although the differences were not large, White women were more dissatisfied with their bodies than non-White women. Further, Grabe and Hyde found that Black and Latina women may feel less pressure to be thin than White women. However, these authors did recognize that Black and Latina women may still feel pressure to have a certain look or body shape (i.e., having curves in certain body parts).

Warren, Gleaves, Cepeda-Benito, del Carmen Fernandez, and Rodriguez-Ruiz (2005) found body dissatisfaction to be lower in Hispanic women, compared to European American women, and argued that cultures that lack focus on the thin beauty ideal can serve as a protective factor against body dissatisfaction and eating disorders. Other researchers have found that being a woman of color may serve as a protective factor against body image disturbances. Abrams and Stormer (2002) found that ethnicity and race can impact one's knowledge and understanding of the societal standard of beauty that suggests that beauty and thinness are synonymous. In fact, in their study of urban Black adolescent girls Abrams and Stormer found that Black girls with diverse friends had higher levels of understanding and greater internalization of the societal standard of beauty when compared to Black girls who mainly had Black friends.

Researchers have found a significant relationship between pressure and drive for thinness, or internalization of the thin ideal, and prevalence of fat talk (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011). Given this positive relationship between the pressure to be thin and fat

talk, it seems plausible that if race or ethnicity serves as a protective factor for internalization of the thin ideal, it may likewise serve as a protective factor against fat talk.

However, definitive conclusions about race and ethnicity cannot be drawn as research on cultural differences in body image is equivocal. For instance, Poran (2006) noted that Black women, in particular, are not protected against body dissatisfaction by Black culture as some researchers have proposed. In fact, Poran revealed Black women's reports of feeling pressure to be thin; the need to compete against women of all races and ethnicities, particularly other Black women, in the realms of beauty and attention; and a concern over what men desire and prefer. In addition, Black women have reported feeling that Black culture and Black women are misrepresented in the mainstream media. Similarly, Frederick, Forbes, Grigorian, and Jarcho (2007) found that there were not significant differences in body shame and body surveillance levels among Asian American, Hispanic, and White women. In fact, the highest levels of body dissatisfaction were reported from those who were furthest from the White and thin beauty ideal (i.e., heavy non-White women) (Frederick et al.). These mixed findings may be in part due to the individual differences across racial and ethnic minorities, differences in racial and ethnic identity formation, amount of exposure to media sources that promote the thin ideal, differences in upbringing, and potential differences in the social environments in which ethnic minority women interact.

Based on the earlier discussion of the relationship between internalization of the thin ideal and fat talk, such mixed findings make it difficult to know if there is similar

prevalence and impact of fat talk among ethnic minority women. Further, research is sparse when specifically studying the cultural differences in fat talk conversations. It is clear more research determining the racial, ethnic, and national differences surrounding fat talk conversations is needed.

Thin versus overweight women. Rudiger and Winstead (2013) found that fat talk appears to be unrelated and undifferentiated by body size and is common among all shapes and sizes of women. Although fat talk has not necessarily been found to be associated with being overweight (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011), some differences between fat talk among normal-weight, thin, and overweight women may exist, although the findings are mixed.

Nichter (2000) proposed that overweight women may engage in fat talk conversations less often than their normal weight counterparts, as it could draw unwanted attention to their bodies. However, Barwick et al. (2012) found that undergraduate students were more surprised when a normal-weight woman compared to an overweight woman engaged in fat talk. Further, Martz et al. (2009) found that overweight and obese women felt more pressure than their normal-weight peers to engage in fat talk.

Other than these few studies described above, the majority of research dealing with fat talk has utilized mainly thin participants. For instance, Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) studied 186 female undergraduate students and found 84% of them were in the normal weight range. These researchers found that self-reported frequency of fat talk was associated with increased levels of body dissatisfaction and increased levels of internalization of the thin beauty ideal. The researchers found that the most common

response to fat talk was an attempt to convince the friend that she was not fat, while claiming to be fat themselves. However, it is worth noting that this exchange was studied between two healthy-weight peers.

In a study utilizing 143 female undergraduate college students, Corning and Gondoli (2012) found that engaging in fat talk might be based more on one's body image and likelihood to socially compare. However, these researchers also recruited a sample in which 80% of their participants' weights fell within a normal range. These researchers found a positive and significant relationship between body image concerns and propensity to fat talk. They also found that the tendency to socially compare oneself with another significantly predicted whether one would engage and participate in fat talk or not.

Corning et al. (2014) recruited 139 undergraduate women to study how hearing fat talk from different sizes of women (i.e., thin versus overweight) impacts body dissatisfaction levels. Results revealed that hearing fat talk from all of the women, both thin and overweight, had negative impacts on body dissatisfaction levels of the participants. However, hearing the fat talk from the noticeably thin women had the most detrimental effects on body dissatisfaction. As with the other studies cited in this section, the majority (79%) of this sample was made up of women who were considered normal weight. Much less is known about how fat talk impacts overweight and obese women, a gap in the literature intended to be addressed in the proposed study.

Women with eating disorders. Corning et al. (2006) found that because social comparison in general is more common in individuals diagnosed with an eating disorder,

those with eating disorders may engage in fat talk more frequently as it serves as a form of social comparison. Similarly, Ousely et al. (2008) found that fat talk can assist in differentiating between those with and without a clinical eating disorder diagnosis. The authors found that undergraduate female students with a clinical diagnosis of an eating disorder participated in fat talk conversations significantly more often than those without an eating disorder diagnosis. Further, a variety of different types of fat talk conversations (i.e., focus on another's appearance, ideal exercise and eating habits, fears of becoming fat) were discussed significantly more often by those with an eating disorder diagnosis.

Impacts of Fat Talk

Body Dissatisfaction and Eating Disorders

One of the main consequences associated with fat talk is body dissatisfaction.

Being exposed to fat talk conversations is related to increased body dissatisfaction levels, dieting behaviors, preoccupation with food, drive for thinness, and symptoms of bulimia nervosa (Kichler & Crowther, 2009; Thompson et al., 2007). Further, Corning et al. (2014) found that fat talk, more than just being associated with body dissatisfaction and body disturbances, is itself a cause of body dissatisfaction in women.

Among a group of 203 young university women, Rudiger and Winstead (2013) found that fat talk (as measured by a negative body talk questionnaire created by the first author), as compared to positive and self-affirming comments about one's body, was associated with increased levels of disordered eating behaviors and lower levels of body satisfaction. Similarly, Clarke et al. (2010) found that fat talk was negatively related to body esteem, such that higher frequencies of fat talk related to lower body esteem. These

authors also found a significantly positive relationship between fat talk frequency and eating pathology scores. Lastly, they found that one's level of body distress significantly predicted how frequently they engaged in fat talk. Corning and Gondoli (2012) found that one's level of body image concerns significantly predicted the frequency of engaging in fat talk, with higher levels of concerns predicting higher frequencies. Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) found a significant and positive relationship between the frequency of fat talk and one's level of body dissatisfaction.

Rudiger (2010) found that fat talk conversations were associated with increased levels of disordered eating and pathological eating. Compeau and Ambwani (2013) studied the relationship among dietary restraint, fat talk, body dissatisfaction, and eating behavior. Body dissatisfaction levels were most impacted by fat talk exposure for those with the lowest levels of dietary restraint. These authors believed that these findings were due to the fact that those with high levels of dietary restraint already had high levels of body dissatisfaction and pathological eating behaviors.

Warren, Holland, Billings, and Parker (2012) studied the impacts of fat talk and stress level among 121 female university students. The researchers found a significant and positive relationship between both fat talk and self-perceived stress and body dissatisfaction levels. In fact, the researchers found that fat talk significantly predicted body dissatisfaction levels more than one's BMI and age. Contrary to their predictions, the authors found that when students had low or moderate self-perceived stress levels, the relationship between fat talk and body dissatisfaction was strengthened. The authors

believed this finding related to the fact that those with high self-perceived stress levels were more likely to already have high levels of body dissatisfaction.

Some researchers have found that body dissatisfaction levels have more to do with the body type of the person engaging in the body talk than the type of body talk itself. In an experimental study, Corning and colleagues (2014) explored how positive and negative body talk impacts body dissatisfaction. Further, these authors studied whether the body size of the confederate engaging in body talk had any impact on body dissatisfaction levels of the participants. Interestingly, these researchers found that being exposed to a thin confederate did significantly increase the participants' body dissatisfaction levels, while exposure to an overweight confederate had no impact on participants' body dissatisfaction levels. Surprisingly, the type of body talk (i.e., fat talk versus positive body talk) did not play a significant role in body dissatisfaction. Although thin women engaging in fat talk did have the greatest impact on body dissatisfaction and larger women speaking positively about their bodies was correlated with the lowest levels of body dissatisfaction, these findings were not significant. The researchers noted that the body type of women engaging in either fat or positive body talk matters significantly, perhaps even more than the nature of the discussion itself.

Stice, Maxfield, and Wells (2003) conducted an experimental study in which 120 female undergraduate students were assigned to a group in which a thin confederate was engaging in fat talk or to a group in which the same thin confederate was engaging in neutral, or non-fat, talk. The researchers found that participants who were exposed to the thin confederate engaging in fat talk had increased levels of body dissatisfaction and a

higher likelihood of resorting to dangerous eating and dieting behaviors. In a similar study, Tucker, Martz, Curtin, and Bazzini (2007) found that body dissatisfaction levels can vary based on the confederate's type of communication, such as self-deprecating, neutral, or self-accepting talk. Tucker et al. found that those paired with a confederate engaging in fat talk had the highest levels of body dissatisfaction.

Although much of the scholarship on fat talk has focused on women, it is noteworthy that some researchers have found similar results among men who engage in fat or negative body talk, which includes disparaging comments about being too thin or not muscular enough (Engeln et al., 2013). Arroyo and Harwood (2012) studied both male and female college students and found that fat talk significantly predicted lower body satisfaction, increased levels of body shame, and increased concerns about body image regardless of gender. Furthermore, those with lower levels of body satisfaction were more likely to engage in fat talk (Arroyo & Harwood, 2012).

Engeln et al. (2013) researched men who engaged in negative body talk. For their study, instead of typical fat talk conversations, negative body talk included topics like appearance-related concerns, disordered eating behaviors, and drive for muscularity. The researchers found that for these university men, engaging in negative body talk was significantly correlated with increased levels of disordered eating behaviors and attitudes, increased drives for muscularity, increased investment in one's appearance, and decreased appearance evaluations. Engeln et al. (2013) also found that even without engaging in negative body talk, just hearing these conversations was correlated with increased levels of body dissatisfactions and decreased body esteem for men.

Self-Objectification

Researchers have begun to explore whether self-objectification is another potential consequence of fat talk conversations. Nowatzki and Morry (2009) explained how objectification theory highlights the ways in which women can be overloaded with sexualized images of women and their bodies, which can lead to an internalization of another's viewpoint. With such internalization, women learn to evaluate themselves based on sociocultural standards of beauty. This internalization of another's perspective, which numerous women in Western society employ, is known as self-objectification. Women begin to be concerned primarily with their appearance, as opposed to their body's competence, which is the start of the self-objectification process (Szymanski, Carr, & Moffitt, 2011). Self-objectification occurs when a woman no longer views herself as a subjective self, or self as agent, but instead as an object (Quinn, Kallen, Twenge, & Fredrickson, 2006).

Fredrickson and Roberts (1997) defined self-objectification as the process by which one is treated and viewed only as a body or object, as opposed to a person, and then internalizes this perspective. Self-objectification can result in one feeling as though they exist only for others to look at and be pleasured by. Not surprisingly, evidence suggests that self-objectification overwhelmingly affects more women than men (Szymanski et al., 2011).

Szymanski and Henning (2007) described two routes through which women internalize messages. The first route consists of indirect, and at times subliminal, objectifying messages women are sent through media, peers, family, and friends. The

second route is more direct and includes any sexual abuse or victimization women might endure, such as rape, sexual harassment, or sexual assault (Szymanski & Henning, 2007). Through these direct objectifying routes (i.e., sexual assault), women are treated as objects, and therefore, begin to see or relate to themselves as objects. It is the internalization of these events or messages, in turn, that creates self-objectification (Szymanski et al., 2011).

Self-objectification may be either state or trait-like and can last for a significant period of time (Tiggemann & Boundy, 2008). In fact, Fredrickson, Roberts, Noll, Quinn, and Twenge (1998) asserted that some people are more likely to be preoccupied with their bodies than others, which may reflect having a trait for self-objectification. In a study on former ballet dancers' levels of self-objectification, Tiggemann and Slater (2001) found that even when they were no longer dancing, participants continued to selfobjectify and reported increased levels of body surveillance compared to non-dancers. (Tiggemann & Slater, 2001). Another study reported similar conclusions in support of there being both state and trait aspects of objectification; the authors found that certain environments or experiences can engender state self-objectification (Tiggemann & Boundy, 2008). Regarding trait aspects of self-objectification, the authors found that although compliments made all participants feel better, those who had higher levels of self-objectification before the study retained increased levels of self-objectification and body shame after receiving compliments, revealing a trait-like aspect of selfobjectification. In other words, levels of self-objectification depend, in part, on the individual (Tiggemann & Boundy, 2008).

In fact, Calogero, Herbozo, and Thompson (2009) found that appearance comments alone can have an effect on one's body image, even when intended as compliments. Specifically, the authors found that appearance criticisms predicted both an increased frequency of body surveillance and body dissatisfaction among female undergraduate college students. Calogero, Herbozo, and Thompson (2009) also found that appearance compliments predicted increased levels of body surveillance and dissatisfaction. It is noteworthy that it was not the frequency of the appearance comments, but the perceived impact of the comments, that affected one's surveillance and satisfaction with their body (Calogero et al., 2009). In other words, depending in part on how someone perceives the comment affects the way it influences their surveillance and satisfaction with their body. The authors noted that when it comes to appearance, because of the potential for harm, it may be better to say nothing than to compliment someone on their looks.

A number of consequences are associated with self-objectification, both physical and psychological. For instance, Moradi (2011) found that self-objectification increases body surveillance (or body monitoring), body shame, anxiety, and appearance anxiety; leads to lower internal awareness; and inhibits the ability to have high motivational states, or flow. Others have found self-objectification correlates with low self-esteem, lower levels of life satisfaction and well-being, lower levels of relationship satisfaction, and increased risk-taking behaviors and self-harm (Breines, Crocker, & Garcia, 2008). Fredrickson and Roberts (1997) suggested that the accumulation of these effects can result in eating disorder development, major depression, and sexual dysfunction.

As previously noted, some researchers have begun to study the relationship between fat talk and self-objectification. Arroyo and Harwood (2012) believed that selfobjectification can be both observed and created through fat talk. They posited that fat talk is an extension and "behavioral manifestation" of self-objectification (p. 170). Gapinski, Brownell, and LaFrance (2003) were interested in the impacts of selfobjectification on mood, cognitive performance, and motivation, and how hearing fat talk conversations impacts self-objectification levels. The authors found that state selfobjectification, such as trying on a bathing suit as opposed to a sweater, had negative impacts on women's affect, self-efficacy, motivation, and cognitive functioning. Contrary to their predictions, they found that exposure to fat talk actually had a comforting impact on those in the self-objectification condition, as seen by decreased negative affect, as opposed to an exacerbating effect. The authors believed that hearing such negative body talk from others may have allowed the state objectified participants to feel supported and not alone in their objectification. However, those who were not in the state objectified condition--in this case those who wore a sweater--did have increased negative affect after hearing the fat talk conversations. Cory and Burns (2007) also studied the impacts of overhearing a fat talk conversation on self-objectification levels. Also contrary to their hypothesis, no significant impact on one's self-objectification score was found from hearing a fat talk conversation. The authors suggested that this may be due to the fact that in the instance of being exposed to objectifying material, the fat talk could have been viewed by the women participants as beneficial and a form of social support. Given that

only a few studies to date have researched the complex relationship between fat talk and self-objectification, it is clear that more research in this area is needed.

Other Impacts of Fat Talk

In addition to body dissatisfaction, disordered eating behaviors, eating disorders, and self-objectification, there are a number of other consequences of engaging in fat talk. Gruys (2012), for example, suggested that when larger women engage in fat talk, it may be another form of promoting society's ideas and standards around thinness and the hierarchy based on body size. Grabe et al. (2008) found that fat talk may increase girls' and women's knowledge of the thin ideal, and the thin ideal may be further reinforced through these conversations. Further, Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) found a significant and positive relationship between internalization of the thin ideal and frequency of fat talk conversations.

Warren et al. (2005) found that exposure to fat talk has a significant and positive relationship with drive for thinness. Arroyo and Harwood (2012) also found that engaging in fat talk significantly predicted one's scores on a depression assessment. Further, these authors found fat talk predicted self-esteem scores, with high levels of engagement in fat talk predicting lower levels of self-esteem. Arroyo and Harwood also looked at the differences in engaging in fat talk, such as saying something negative about one's own body, versus just hearing others engage in fat talk. They found that saying something negative about one's own body significantly predicted increased levels of depression and pressure to be thin, while hearing others engage in fat talk significantly predicted increased pressures to be thin, but not changes in depression levels.

Rudiger and Winstead (2013) found that engaging in fat talk was positively related to increased levels of rumination about one's body. Further, they found that fat talk was related to increased levels of investment in one's appearance, increased levels of cognitive distortions about one's body, decreased levels of self-esteem, and increased levels of depression (Rudiger & Winstead, 2013).

Benefits of Positive Body Talk and Challenging Fat Talk

While the numerous consequences of fat talk are evident, researchers have begun to reveal the benefits of speaking positively or confidently about one's body in contrast to fat talk. Research has also revealed benefits of challenging fat talk by others when faced with fat talk. For one thing, positive body talk, as opposed to self-degradation, or fat talk, is seen as much more inviting and attractive. For instance, Barwick et al. (2012) found that regardless of the person's weight engaging in positive body talk, the person was seen as having more positive social characteristics and qualities than those who engaged in negative body talk. Furthermore, these authors found that women who challenged a fat talk conversation by responding with positive body comments and self-acceptance were judged by female participants to be the most liked by men.

Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2012) designed a study in which college women either heard two confederates engaging in fat talk, not engaging in fat talk at all, or one engaging in fat talk while the other confederate challenged the fat talk. Participants who overheard the purely fat talk conversation were more likely to themselves engage in fat talk, and they exhibited significantly higher levels of body dissatisfaction and feelings of guilt than those in the other two research conditions. Importantly, those who heard the

conversation which included fat talk challenges had lowered levels of body dissatisfaction and guilt. This finding was observed only when the challenger critiqued women's tendencies to engage in fat talk, as opposed to just arguing that the other confederate was not fat. With these findings, Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2012) argued that hearing such fat talk challenges may potentially serve as a protective factor against the negative impacts of fat talk.

Rudiger and Winstead (2013) found that positive body talk was related to a number of positive effects such as positive body satisfaction, higher friendship quality, less body image distortion, and higher self-esteem among 203 young college women. Similarly, Tucker et al. (2007) found that those who witnessed positive body talk from a confederate had the least amount of body dissatisfaction when compared to those paired with neutral-talking and fat-talking confederates. In fact, because the benefits of challenging fat talk have continually been found through the research, some eating disorder prevention programs are now including education on how to challenge fat talk conversations when faced with them (Compeau & Ambwani, 2013).

Social Networking

In the past several years, social networking has become increasingly popular within the U.S. and around the world. A social networking site is any website that enhances individuals' ability to communicate with friends, co-workers, and family members (Facebook, 2011a). Since the early 21st century, social networking websites such as Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn, Instagram, My Space, and Pintrest have grown exponentially with users from across the world (Lipsman, Mud, Rich, & Bruich, 2012).

According to Thompson and Lougheed (2012); three-quarters of teenagers and young adults in the U.S. report using at least one social networking website.

For the purpose of this study, Facebook will be the social networking site of focus, given that is the most frequently used social networking site (Rutledge, Gillmor, & Gillen, 2013). In 2011, Facebook had 500 million users with half of those users logging on daily (Facebook, 2011b). Further, Facebook users spend 700 billion minutes per month. The number of Facebook users doubled to one billion users by 2012, representing one out of every seven people in the world, with half of those using daily (Smith, 2012). It is now estimated that Facebook has over 655 million daily users (Facebook, 2013).

Facebook use seems to be particularly popular on college campuses, perhaps not surprising given that Facebook was first developed for use by college students. In fact, Junco (2012) stated that 96% of college students in the U.S. reported using Facebook. Junco (2012) found that college students reported using Facebook anywhere from a half hour to an hour and a half each day, with friend networks ranging anywhere from 200-400. Thompson and Lougheed (2012) also found that Facebook use remains very common on college campuses with first-year students having the strongest ties to Facebook. These authors also found that Facebook use is so prevalent that many students, particularly female students, reported feeling addicted to Facebook. Further, many college students reported spending more time on Facebook than they intended.

Because of such popularity and extensive use, researchers have been exploring the impacts of such a cultural and world-wide phenomenon. However, Brown and Bobkowski (2011) highlighted the fact that research on the impacts of social networking

sites, including Facebook, is still in its infancy. These authors noted that more research is necessary to determine how such frequent use can impact individuals and the culture as a whole. Further, research may assist in determining safe ways to use social networking and social media in general (Brown & Bobkowski, 2011). Although research is limited, some researchers have suggested that social networking use can influence the expectations one places on oneself and are characterized by cultural norms and standards, similar to other forms of media (Taniguchi & Lee, 2012).

Social Networking and Body Image Concerns

Some researchers have studied the relationship between social networking site use and body image concerns. Although the research on the relationship between body image disturbances and social networking use is still relatively limited and novel, there appears to be multiple ways in which social network use in general and Facebook use more specifically may impact body image.

Many researchers have hypothesized that viewing others' Facebook profiles could potentially result in feeling poorly about oneself. Such ideas likely come from research revealing the negative relationship between social comparison and positive thoughts about one's body or body image (Tantleff-Dunn & Gokee, 2002). Rieger et al. (2010) posited that social comparisons, such as those that occur through social networking sites, can indirectly influence one's body image and eating behaviors. Similarly, Smith, Hames, and Joiner (2013) found that maladaptive Facebook use, which includes behaviors such as comparing oneself to others via Facebook profiles and negatively evaluating oneself based on this comparison, was related to body image concerns. Specifically, the

researchers found a positive relationship between maladaptive Facebook use and bulimic symptoms such as overeating and binging. They also found that this relationship was mediated by body dissatisfaction (Smith et al., 2013).

On the other hand, Ferguson, Muñoz, Garza, and Galindo (2014) found that peer competition, defined by the authors as "feelings of inferiority in response to other girls" (p. 4), as opposed to television or social media use, was the factor that impacted negative body outcomes such as increased body dissatisfaction and eating disorder symptomatology. However, these authors did find that social media use can still indirectly impact body satisfaction, as social media use had a small predictive relationship with peer competition. In other words, those who used social media more frequently were more likely to be socially competitive with their peers than those who used social media less frequently.

Grabe et al. (2008) conducted a meta-analysis that revealed a strong and significant relationship between the amount of media consumption (via television and magazines) and body shame or body dissatisfaction. Because of such results, others have questioned whether similar impacts can come from utilizing social media and social networking sites, in addition to traditional media sources. Rutledge et al. (2013) found a positive relationship between one's emotional connection with Facebook and the focus on one's physical appearance.

Tiggemann and Slater (2013) found that in general, there is a positive relationship between Internet exposure and the internalization of the thin beauty ideal. Further, they found a positive relationship between Internet exposure and body surveillance and drive

for thinness. Tiggemann and Slater found that Facebook users had significantly higher body image concerns than non-Facebook users. Because of this finding, Tiggemann and Slater cautioned that the Internet, including social networking sites, can be another dangerous form of media.

A major aspect of Facebook that appears to be impactful is the photographs users post. Junco (2012) noted that a large portion of time spent on Facebook is either viewing or posting photographs. Rutledge et al. (2013) posited that the vast number of photographs displayed via Facebook likely put pressure on users to have a certain appearance, or at the very least, prompt users to focus more on their appearance. In fact, Thompson and Lougheed (2012) found that viewing Facebook pictures can result in negative thoughts about one's body image. Similarly, Haferkamp and Kramer (2011) found that looking at profile pictures of others deemed attractive was related to decreases in positive thoughts and increased negative affect compared to when participants viewed a profile picture of someone who was judged to be unattractive.

Facebook use has also been linked to eating disorders and eating disorder symptomatology. Keel and Forney (2013) noted that social networking site use, and Facebook in particular, combines two major triggers for those with eating disorders: media and peers. In a study of 421 female undergraduate students, Bair, Kelly, Serdar, and Mazzeo (2012) examined whether viewing image-saturated Internet media had a similar impact on body disturbance and dysfunctional eating as viewing magazines and traditional media sources. Image-focused Internet and magazine use were defined as the total number of hours a participant spent viewing fashion, fitness, or celebrity content in

the previous month. The researchers found a significant and positive correlation between viewing images on the Internet and body disturbances and eating pathology. More specifically, a positive relationship was seen between image-focused Internet use and eating pathology, whereas a non-significant relationship was found between image-focused magazine use and eating pathology. Further, a significant and positive relationship was found between image-focused Internet use and body dissatisfaction.

Lastly, image-focused Internet use was positively and significantly correlated with internalization of the thin ideal (Bair et al.).

Mabe, Forney, and Keel (2014) noted that with the increases in social networking use, women now have a continuous arena for social comparison and reinforcement of the thin ideal from peers online. Further, these researchers studied the link between Facebook use and eating disorder symptomatology in 960 female undergraduate students. Mabe et al. asked participants to fill out a self-report questionnaire which inquired about their amount of Facebook use per week, in total minutes. The researchers found a significant, positive relationship between Facebook use and eating disorder symptoms.

Mabe et al. (2014) also conducted an experimental design to test whether spending 20 minutes on Facebook, as opposed to 20 minutes on a Wikipedia page, could influence levels or state and trait anxiety and eating disorder symptomatology. They studied 84 female college students and, unlike in their first study, the researchers did not find significance. Mabe et al. believed that their lack of significance in this study was likely due to their relatively low number of participants.

In a study of 600 male and female Facebook users conducted by the Center for Eating Disorders at Sheppard Pratt (2012), 32% of users were upset after comparing pictures of themselves to pictures of friends on Facebook. Further, the authors found that 37% believed they need to change parts of their body after comparing themselves to others on Facebook. Forty-four percent wished they had a similar body weight or shape as a friend after viewing photographs on Facebook. Fifty-one percent felt increasingly self-conscious when viewing photographs of themselves on Facebook. Lastly, 44% of participants noted feeling self-conscious at social events knowing that pictures taken during the event may later be posted to Facebook.

Social networking and self-objectification. As research has revealed increasingly strong connections between social networking use and body image concerns, some have questioned whether social networking and social media may also impact self-objectification levels. Further, researchers have examined how the rise in self-portrayal and self-communication, via social networking sites, may impact girls' and women's self-objectification (Castells, 2007).

Swim, Hyers, Cohen, and Ferguson (2001) found that women and girls encounter sexually objectifying social interactions through which they are judged on their appearance alone, at least once a week, which is three times more often than occurs for men and boys. Such findings have led some to question whether similar objectifying social interactions can occur online through use of social networking sites. Vanderbosch and Eggermont (2012) found a positive correlation between amount of time spent on social networking sites and self-objectification in adolescent girls, although causation

should not be inferred from their findings. de Vries and Peter (2013) took this line of research a step further by studying the impacts of viewing objectifying media content and portraying posts or pictures of oneself to an online audience on self-objectification.

Participants were either primed with objectifying material, or not primed, and participants were told that their images would either be seen by an online audience, or be seen by no audience at all. The researchers found that those who portrayed themselves to an online audience had significantly higher levels of self-objectification when primed by objectifying media content (i.e., magazine advertisements) than those who were not primed and portrayed posts and pictures to no audience. This finding reveals that the combination of viewing objectifying material and posting aspects of oneself online can significantly impact self-objectification levels (de Vries & Peter, 2013).

Social Networking and Depression

Social networking site use may also be related to symptoms of depression. Some researchers have compared Facebook statuses involving disclosures of depression symptoms to an actual *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual IV (DSM-IV-TR)* diagnosis of depression (APA, 2000). Moreno et al. (2011) found that 25% of their college participant sample displayed symptoms of depression on their Facebook profiles that were consistent with a *DSM-IV* diagnosis of depression (APA, 2000). They also found that those who displayed depression symptoms on their profile were more likely to fit the *DSM-IV* criteria for depression than those who did not post about their symptoms.

Feinstein et al. (2013) found that there are a number of behavioral interactions that can occur on Facebook such as active interactions (i.e., Facebook chatting) and

passive interaction (i.e., gaining information about others via looking at their profile pages). Feinstein et al. found that rumination was significantly associated with social comparisons done via Facebook. Further, social comparisons via Facebook were also positively associated with symptoms of depression. Davila et al. (2012) believed that the quality of Facebook use, as opposed to mere time spent on Facebook, should be studied when researching the relationship between social networking use and depression. They found that self-reports of negative Facebook interactions were associated with symptoms of depression significantly more than self-reports of positive Facebook interactions.

Some researchers have seen a relationship between time spent on Facebook and depressive symptoms. For instance, Chou and Edge (2012) found that those who spent more time on Facebook were more likely to believe that others were better off than they were.

Social Networking and Other Mental Health Consequences

There are other mental health consequences associated with social networking site use beyond depression and body image disturbances. For instance, Manago, Taylor, and Greenfield (2012) studied the links between Facebook use and a number of psychological factors such as self-esteem, life satisfaction, and narcissism. Thompson and Lougheed (2012) found a positive relationship between Facebook use and self-reported stress. Furthermore, Kalpidou, Costin, and Morris (2011) found that among first-year college students, there is a negative relationship between the amount of Facebook use and academic and emotional adjustment. In other words, the more Facebook use a first-year

student exhibited, the less capable of emotionally and academically adjusting a student was.

Niwa and Mandrusiak (2012) looked specifically at support groups for selfinjurers on Facebook and the impacts on the group members. Self-injury is the act of harming one's physical self in a way which is considered non-life threatening and is not intended to commit suicide (Haines & Williams, 2003). This behavior occurs most frequently in people aged 18-22 and usually begin during adolescence (White, Trepal-Wollenzier, & Nolan, 2002). Self-injury can also be referred to nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI), self-harm, self-mutilation, or deliberate self-harm. After studying the content and interactions of four self-injury groups on Facebook for 3 months, Niwa and Mandrusiak found a number of negative impacts of utilizing or being a member of this type of group on Facebook. For example, many non-members gained access to the group and made condemning, mocking, or hateful remarks members could view. The researchers also found a number of in-group and out-group attitudes with frequent harassment and verbal abuse occurring on the group page. The authors argued that some of the posts could be unintentionally positively reinforcing members to self-injure through compassion and by paying attention to those who injure. Additionally, the researchers found that some members and non-members openly encouraged members to self-injure. While the authors reported that some members found this group to be supportive of this highly stigmatized behavior, the negative impacts appeared to outweigh the positive.

Facebook use also appears to be linked and related to interpersonal and relational violence. Lyndon, Bonds-Raacke, and Cratty (2011) studied stalking behaviors on

Facebook among college students. The researchers found that 67% of their college sample admitted to taking part in at least one or two covert provocation behaviors. Such behaviors included looking through ex-partners' photographs, posting song lyrics or quotes in attempt to taunt an ex-partner, creating status updates that are specifically intended to make one's partner jealous, and writing on an ex-partner's wall in an attempt to specifically hurt or taunt one's ex-partner. Further, Lyndon et al. found that 18% of their sample publicly harassed their ex-partner via Facebook. The authors' definition of harassment via Facebook included behaviors such as spreading false rumors about the expartner, asking to be unblocked by the ex-partner, falsely changing their relationship status, or posting embarrassing pictures of the ex-partner. Further Lyndon et al. found that 18% of participants reported venting, complaining, or posting spiteful comments about their ex-partners via Facebook. While Facebook use alone does not cause relational violence, it clearly provides another avenue for problematic behaviors.

Fat Talk and Social Media

While little research on fat talk on social media has been conducted to date,

Taniguchi and Lee (2012) specifically looked at the impacts of witnessing fat talk on

Facebook in 96 female college students from the U.S. and 103 female college students

from Japan. These authors found that regardless of one's culture, witnessing thin
promoting messages (i.e., messages about diet tips and suggestions for how to lose

weight) was correlated with decreased psychological well-being. They also found that for

Japanese students, witnessing thin-promoting messages via Facebook was linked with

increases in body dissatisfaction, while this finding was not present for the students from

the U.S. The authors believed the lack of significant findings in the U.S. students may have been due to the differences in cultures (i.e., individualistic versus collectivistic). They noted that the thin-discouraging messages (i.e., "What?! You look beautiful as you are!") were directed toward the Facebook profile owner, as opposed to those witnessing the thin-promoting messages. Taniguchi and Lee (2012) argued that because of their individualistic cultural upbringing, the students from the U.S. may have had an easier time than the Japanese students dismissing the thin-promoting messages.

In a similar study, Lee et al. (2013) researched the impacts of viewing fat talk on a Facebook profile page among a sample of 159 female undergraduate students from the U.S. and 137 female undergraduate students from Korea. These researchers found that Korean women who viewed an underweight woman engaging in thin-promoting messages had significantly lower body satisfaction levels than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in thin-promoting messages online. However, no differences were seen in these conditions for the U.S. women. Consistent with the explanation Taniguchi and Lee (2012) provided, Lee et al. believed that the absence of significant results in the students from the U.S. was due to the influence of their individualistic culture. Further, these researchers believed that the Korean women were likely more sensitive to the thin-promoting due to the fact that they were raised in as collectivistic culture.

Positive Impacts of Social Networking Use

While a number of negative impacts or consequences of social networking exist, the impacts of social networking use are not all negative. There appears to be some benefits of social networking use, too.

Likely the most common and obvious benefit of social networking use is the ability to socially interact with others and network. Although social networking online is undoubtedly different than face-to-face social interactions, there still appears to be social benefits from interacting with others online. Seligman (2011) noted that keeping in touch with friends and family has become much easier through social networking sites. Such a benefit is understandable, particularly for those who have friends and family who live afar. Seligman also highlighted the fact that social networking makes communicating with others easier when one is on a tight or time-constricted schedule. For instance, if one does not have time to meet with a friend in person, social networking allows one to message a friend at times that are convenient.

O'Keeffe and Clarke-Pearson (2011) noted that social networking can enhance one's creativity by allowing people to share their ideas and interests with a more diverse group of people than would be possible without social networking sites. Further, these authors discussed the opportunities for philanthropic work that come from social networking sites. For instance, one can post articles or links to websites for charities or causes in which they are interested.

As previously noted, a number of support groups exist on Facebook. Regardless of the struggle one may be experiencing, one can likely find a group of others who may

be going through a similar struggle. Niwa and Mandrusiak (2012) noted that many find comfort and support through the variety of support groups that exist online through social networking sites such as Facebook.

Joinson (2008) found that Facebook users report a number of benefits of using the social networking sites, such as social connection (learning about what friends are currently doing, or reconnecting with old friends), sharing identities with others (i.e., communicating with others who are similar to oneself), and social investigating (i.e., meeting new people through social networking). Ellison, Steinfield, and Lampe (2007) found that users of Facebook report having increased levels of resources through social relationships (i.e., social capital). Further, Valenzuela, Park, and Kee (2009) found that Facebook use was correlated with increased levels of social trust, civic engagement, and life satisfaction. Mazer, Murphy, and Simonds (2007) found a significant and positive correlation between Facebook use and college student motivation, positive climate levels in the classroom, and affective learning.

In addition to the individual benefits, there are a number of positive impacts of social networking use in the realm of business. For example, social networking has become a common avenue for networking and making connections with others in one's field (Bodell & Hook, 2011). In fact, Bodell and Hook indicated that social networking use has become an essential aspect of networking for entrepreneurs. Others have discussed additional benefits such as the ways in which Facebook and other social networking sites have become a major avenue for creativity, marketing, and advertisement (Rolland & Parmentier, 2013).

Summary and Rationale for the Current Study

The thin beauty ideal is widespread not only through mass media (i.e., the Internet, television, and film) but also through daily social interactions with peers, coworkers, friends, and family. One way the thin beauty ideal is promulgated through social interactions is through fat talk conversations. Since the mid-1990s, fat talk conversations have been researched and found to be commonplace among women of all ages (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011). Salk and Engeln-Maddox described fat talk as conversations which include two or more individuals who mutually degrade their bodies. Because these conversations have become so widespread, these authors noted that they are easily recognizable as fat talk by both men and women in the U.S. Fat talk conversations include a number of themes such as the comparison of eating and exercise behaviors, exchange of dieting and eating tips, physical evaluation of those who are not present, and expression of fear of gaining weight or becoming fat (Corning & Gondoli, 2012).

Fat talk conversations are ubiquitous among many women and some men in the U.S. and there appear to be a number of impacts and consequences of engaging in fat talk. Fat talk has been correlated with body dissatisfaction (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011). Moreover, fat talk conversations have been found to be related to a number of other consequences including an increased drive for thinness (Arroyo & Harwood, 2012) and body rumination (Rudiger & Winstead, 2013).

Research on the impacts of social networking site use has also grown over the last several years with the increase in popularity of sites like Facebook. While it offers some benefits to its users, social media appears to be another venue for the spread of the thin

beauty ideal. Further, researchers have begun to study the impacts of routinely viewing pictures and descriptions of others online. Some researchers have found negative impacts of Facebook use, particularly around body image (Smith et al., 2013).

Such findings have led some researchers to question whether viewing fat talk online, through social networking sites, would have similar impacts on women as engaging in these conversations in person. To date, only two studies have researched the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations on Facebook.

Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al. (2013) have explored the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online among women from the U.S. However, while these authors studied the impact of viewing statements about weight loss and discussion around tips for weight loss specifically, other forms of fat talk through social media have not yet been studied. The current investigation aims to study the impact of viewing fat talk conversations on social media.

Given all of the negative impacts of fat talk (i.e., body dissatisfaction, disordered eating behaviors, eating disorders, self-objectification, and increased drive for thinness), it seems imperative that a solution for fat talk be found. Some hopeful findings have come from the research studying the challenging of fat talk. In an experimentally designed study which included a condition in which a confederate challenged fat talk by critiquing the act of engaging in self-deprecating conversations, Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2012) found that those women who witnessed the challenging of fat talk in a laboratory setting exhibited less body dissatisfaction and less guilt and were less likely to replicate the fat talk behavior compared to those in conditions in which fat talk was not challenged.

In light of the salubrious potential of such findings, the current study aimed to extend upon the fat talk challenging research by examining whether similar benefits are evidenced when viewing fat talk challenging behavior online through a social networking site. Most studies involving body dissatisfaction, including the two that focused on social media (Lee et al. 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012) and several others (i.e., Arroyo & Harwood, 2012; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011; Warren et al., 2012) have utilized female students at a college or university as participants. Although recruitment for the current study included university students, its aim was to broaden the participant population to include a more diverse group of women from around the U.S.

Furthermore, to the researcher's knowledge, only two studies to date have explored the differing impacts of fat talk based on one's demographic differences. Lee et al. (2013) and Taniguchi and Lee (2012) each compared the differing impacts of fat talk in undergraduate students from the U.S. to Korean or Japanese students. However, no studies to date have compared White and non-White women within the U.S. In fact, many studies have relied upon a disproportionate amount of White women as participants (Arroyo & Harwood 2012; Corning et al., 2014; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012). The current study utilized a more ethnically diverse sample in order to compare the potential differences in the impacts of fat talk among differing racial and ethnic groups. Further, no studies to date have explored fat talk and sexual orientation, which the current study aimed to explore.

To date, only two studies to have researched the differing impacts of engaging or viewing weight loss discouragement or encouragement online with women of different

sizes (Lee et al., 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012) and no studies to date have explored the impacts of viewing challenges to fat talk online through a social media website with women of different sizes. The current study aimed to explore the impacts of viewing both overweight and thin women engaging in fat talk conversations online.

Most studies on fat talk have also been limited by their use of thin women. A number of researchers (i.e., Corning et al., 2014; Corning & Gondoli, 2012; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011) have reported that the vast majority of their participants were of average weight. Researchers have expressed concern about limiting studies about size to thin women and stressed the importance of including fat women in such studies (Fikkan & Rothblum, 2012). The present study explored how viewing fat talk online, including challenging fat talk, impacts women representing a diverse range of body sizes.

The present study also aimed to add to the fat talk and social media literature by studying the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online, by a thin and overweight woman, through social networking (i.e., Facebook) for women. In each of the following hypotheses, the conversations refer to online conversations that occurred between Facebook users, with a woman in the Facebook profile picture initiating a fat talk conversation with her profile viewers. The person in the profile picture was either a thin or an overweight woman and the fat talk conversations were either continued or

challenged by simulated profile viewers. The following hypotheses, based on the literature, were offered:

Hypothesis 1. It was predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of body dissatisfaction than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk.

Hypothesis 2. It was predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of self-objectification than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk.

Hypothesis 3. Participants who viewed the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of body dissatisfaction than those who viewed the perpetuation of fat talk.

Hypothesis 4. Participants who viewed the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of self-objectification than those who viewed the perpetuation of fat talk.

Table 1

Hypotheses 5 and 6

	Continued/Perpetuated	Challenged
Thin	Highest Body Dissatisfaction/Self-	3 rd Highest Body
	Objectification	Dissatisfaction/Self-Objectification
Overweight	2 nd Highest Body	Lowest Body Dissatisfaction/Self-
	Dissatisfaction/Self-Objectification	Objectification

Hypotheses 5 and 6 are depicted in Table 1.

Hypothesis 5. Participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that is perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest level of body dissatisfaction. Those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of body dissatisfaction. Those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of body dissatisfaction; and those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of body dissatisfaction.

Hypothesis 6. Participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest levels of self-objectification. Those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of self-objectification. Those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of self-objectification; and those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of self-objectification.

Hypothesis 7. It was predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict body dissatisfaction beyond that predicted by the conditions of the experiment.

Hypothesis 8. It was predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict self-objectification beyond that predicted by the conditions of the experiment.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Seven hundred and seventy-nine self-identified women signed up to complete the study. After removing 166 participants with any portion of missing data throughout the study and those who incorrectly answered validity questions, a total of 613 women ranging in age from 18 to 35 years old (M = 20.48, SD = 3.95) completed the study fully and were retained for the analyses. One hundred and forty one (23%) participants identified as Black or African American, 266 (43.4%) participants identified as White, and 206 (33.6%) participants identified as Latina or Hispanic. See Table 2 for descriptive statistics on the categorical demographic variables in this study, and see Table 3 for the descriptive statistics on continuous demographic variables.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Education, Ethnicity, and Sexual Orientation

		Frequency	Percent
Education			
	High School Graduate	386	63
	Associate's Degree	29	4.7
	Bachelor's Degree	42	6.9
	Master's Degree	30	4.9
	Doctorate	9	1.5
	Not Specified/Other*	117	19
Total	-	613	100

(continued)

Ethnicity			_
	African American	141	23
	White	266	43.4
	Hispanic/Latina	206	33.6
Total		613	100.0
Sexual Orientation			
	Bisexual	25	4.1
	Gay	2	.3
	Lesbian	9	1.5
	Heterosexual	557	90.9
	Queer	2	.3
	Other	18	2.9
Total		613	100.0

n = 613; Not Specified/Other *= includes no responses for education, n/a responses, or those indicating a GED. Other = indicates that participant did not identify as either bisexual, lesbian, gay, heterosexual, or queer.

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics for Sample Demographics: Continuous Variables

	Mean	Range	Standard Deviation
Variable			
Age in years:	20.48	18-35	3.95
Participant BMI*	25.04	15-58	5.59
Reported Weight in Pounds	147.11	92-330	39.6

n = 613; BMI = Body Mass Index. *Calculated from participant self-described height and weight

Participants were recruited from both a Southwestern U.S. public university primarily for women (n = 481, 78.5%) and online through the social media website Facebook, (n = 132, 21.5%). To be eligible to participate, women needed to identify as White, Black, or Latina and range in age from 18 to 35. Consistent with the study's

design, the investigator limited the sample to White, Black, or Latina participants in order to match each participant with a particular profile picture image consistent with their race/ethnicity. Research has shown that internalization of the societal ideals impact body image disturbances (Harrison & Hefner, 2006), and Warren et al. (2005) found that mismatched ethnic backgrounds may prevent internalization. In other words, non-White women viewing images of White women may not internalize social beauty messages and therefore the incongruence may serve as a protective factor from experiencing body dissatisfaction. Recent demographic data from the university where recruitment occurred indicated that nearly half of the more than 15,000 students are non-White and 89% are female (*TWU Fact Sheet*, 2012).

Participants were randomly assigned to one of four experiential groups. One group of participants were randomly placed into a condition in which they viewed a thin, or normal weight, woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by another profile viewer (n = 162, 26.4%). Another group of participants were placed in a condition in which they viewed an overweight woman who engaged in fat talk which was then perpetuated by another profile viewer (n = 143, 23.4%). Another group of participants were placed into a condition in which they viewed a thin, or normal weight, woman engage in fat talk which was then challenged by a profile viewer (n = 169, 27.6%). The final group of participants were placed into a condition where an overweight woman engaged in fat talk, which was then challenged by another profile viewer (n = 139, 22.7%).

Instrumentation

Participants completed a self-report demographic questionnaire, a brief body image questionnaire, and two psychometrically validated surveys.

Demographic Questionnaire

An author-generated demographic questionnaire (see Appendix A) was created to gather descriptive information about the participants in the study. The brief questionnaire contained questions related to participants' age, gender, race/ethnicity, height, weight, and sexual orientation.

Project EAT Questions

Each participant answered a total of three questions (see Appendix B), selected from the Project EAT. These three questions were selected to provide more information about how participants view and perceive their own body shape and weight, as well as to see how much importance participants place on their weight. Project EAT is a 10-year longitudinal study, in which researchers analyzed the factors associated with young people's weight, physical activity levels, and dietary behaviors in more than 20,000 participants (Larson et al., 2011). Although no reliability or validity analyses were available on these selected individual questions, the questions are frequently utilized in the research literature and the instrument itself has psychometric support. For example, the test-retest reliability was >.7 and the Cronbach's alphas were >.7 for the majority (83%) of the proposed scales (Larson et al., 2011). The internal consistency in the current study was ($\alpha = .72$), which is considered satisfactory (Connelly, 2011).

Perceived weight is assessed using a 5-point Likert scale with responses ranging from "very underweight" to "very overweight." Weight importance is assessed with the question: "During the past six months, how important has your weight and shape been in how you feel about yourself?" A higher numbered response to the question is indicative of greater importance placed on weight and connection between weight and self-concept.

Self-Objectification Questionnaire

Self-objectification was measured by the Self-Objectification Questionnaire (see Appendix C) (SOQ) (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998). This questionnaire instructed participants to rank ten attributes about themselves on a 10-point Likert scale in order of most important to their self-concept to least important to their self-concept, with 10 being the most important. The ten attributes consist of five competence-related attributes (i.e., health, strength, physical condition, physical fitness level, and energy level), and five appearance-related attributes (i.e., sex appeal, weight, physical attractiveness, body measurements, and firm or sculpted muscles). To calculate the final score on the questionnaire, the sum of the competence ranks were subtracted from the sum of the appearance ranks. Final scores can range from -25 to 25, and the higher the final score, the more individuals focus on their appearance, which in turn is interpreted as degree of self-objectification (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998). In the current study, the overall mean was (M = -2.28). Such a score falls below the 0, the midpoint of the scale, and indicates that the overall scores for this sample reflected slightly more focus on body competence and reflected lower levels of self-objectification. According to Noll and Fredrickson (1998), the SOQ has adequate construct validity as it has been shown to correlate with

other widely-utilized measures such as the Body Image Assessment (Williamson, Barker, Bertman, & Gleaves, 1995). The internal consistency in the current study was (R = .70), which is considered appropriate according to Aiken (1985). The internal consistency for this measure was calculated by computing the reliability for the whole scale, using the standardized equation, which was based on the sum of the correlations for the competency items (.25) and appearance items (.17). In the current study, there were no significant differences between groups (e.g., based on ethnic background, weight, age, BMI, sexual orientation, university versus non-university students) on the SOQ. However, there was a difference that approached significance between those recruited from a Southwestern university in the U.S. predominantly for women and those recruited from social media. This finding will be elaborated upon in the Results chapter.

Eating Disorders Inventory-3

Body Dissatisfaction was measured with the Body Dissatisfaction subscale of the Eating Disorder Inventory-3 (see Appendix D) (EDI-3) (Garner, 2004) The Body Dissatisfaction subscale of the EDI-3 is a 10-item subscale which measures one's overall dissatisfaction with their body shape and size, including particular regions of the body which are primarily of concern of those with eating disorders (i.e., stomach, hips, and thighs). Participants indicated how satisfied or dissatisfied they are with various parts of their body (i.e., "I think my thighs are too large") on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (always) to 6 (never) (Garner, 2004). Participants were assigned either 0, 1, 2, or 3 points for answers of sometimes, rarely, never (0), often (1), usually (2), and always (3). Scores ranging from 0-7 are considered low, scores ranging from 8-30 are considered moderate,

and scores ranging from 31-40 are considered high. Higher scores are indicative of greater dissatisfaction with one's body. A total of 132 participants (21.5%) received scores in the low range, 459 (74.9%) participants received scores in the moderate range, and 22 (3.6%) participants had scores in the high range. While there were no significant differences between groups when groups were separated by sexual orientation, age, and recruitment source (university vs. social media), there were significant differences between groups on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale when separated by race/ethnicity, weight, and BMI that are described in the Results chapter. The test-retest reliability for the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale is r = .98 and has strong convergent validity (Garner, 2004). The internal consistency in the current study was ($\alpha = .83$), which is considered satisfactory (Connelly, 2011).

Procedure

Following approval from the Institutional Review Board, participants were recruited through SONA, an online system used to recruit and provide undergraduate students access to studies and through the social networking site Facebook. Participants were told the study was about the impacts of viewing online social media conversations between women. The use of deception was employed in order to reduce demand characteristics and response biases. The participants were shown a brief debriefing screen after completing the study. All surveys and questionnaires were posted online through PsychData, a secure data-collection website. Participants accessed the Facebook profile webpage online. Before beginning the study, all participants provided informed consent (see Appendix E), which specified that their participation in the study was completely

voluntary and that they were free to stop participation at any point throughout the study with no penalty. After agreeing to participate, participants were first asked to identify their race/ethnicity and gender. At that point, the secure data collection website selected the Facebook profile page where the participant was directed based on their racial/ethnic information. White, Black, and Latina participants were sent to one of 12 Facebook profile pages (see Appendix I) created by the investigator. Each page consisted of either a thin or overweight woman in the profile picture engaging in fat talk that was then either continued or challenged by another profile. There were a total of six different images used for the person in the profile picture who was initiating the fat talk: a thin White woman, a thin Black woman, a thin Latina woman, an overweight White woman, an overweight Black woman, and an overweight Latina woman. Participants viewed the image of a thin or an overweight woman of their same racial/ethnic background. The image utilized for the profile picture image of the person challenging or perpetuating the fat talk was a neutral, non-person image.

With permission granted from the authors, the fat talk conversation that was used was adapted from the script used in a similar study (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012). The conversation included the person in the profile picture first stating: "I feel so fat. I hate my thighs, and I really wish my stomach were flat," followed by the profile viewer stating, "Yeah, me too. I wish my stomach was flat." By contrast, in the fat talk challenge condition, the profile viewer stated, "Oh come on. You're definitely not fat. I know we all say things like that but I don't understand why. I just wish we focused on other things"

(Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012, p. 640). The original study was conducted in a laboratory setting, while the current study replicated the design on-line.

All photos of the women in the profile picture were created by a graphic designer specifically for this study. The graphic designer and the investigator worked together to select three different photos taken from a stock-photo website provided by the graphic designer of an overweight, Latina, Black, and White woman. The designated photos were selected to fall between the CDC's overweight and obese categories (CDC, 2014). The graphic designer then created three enhanced photos of the same three women, edited and enhanced to appear thin. All of the women were in their early 20s as this is the age in which rates of body dissatisfaction and eating disorders are particularly prevalent, as well as consistent with other investigations in this area of study. All other features (hair, height, clothing) of the woman in the images remained consistent with the original photos.

Obese	Obese	Obese	Over-	Normal-	Under-
3	2	1	Weight	Weight	Weight

Figure 1. CDC categories

After viewing one of the 12 different Facebook profile pages, participants completed a demographic questionnaire, three questions from the Project EAT (Larson et al., 2011), the SOQ (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998), and the Body Dissatisfaction Subscale of the EDI-3 (Garner, 2004). Further, participants were asked a series of questions aimed to distract them from the purpose of the study. The three distracting items that were utilized

included: "Please evaluate the encounter between the person in the profile picture and the profile viewers," "How typical is this type of conversation on Facebook?" and "How appropriate was it for the person in the profile picture to post information about her body online?" Distracting items were answered immediately after participants viewed the Facebook profile page. Participants answered each of the distracting items in a fill in the blank format with an expandable text box up to 150 words. After completion of the study, participants were provided with a list of referral sources (see Appendix F) in the event they wanted to speak with a mental health professional and a brief debriefing statement to explain the use of deception in the study (see Appendix G). As with the fat talk script, the debriefing statement was also adapted from Salk and Engeln-Maddox's (2012) study.

Analysis

Before the initial investigation was conducted, preliminary analyses were conducted. Pilot testing on each of the images of the women in the profile pictures was done in order to determine if each woman, Black, Latina, and White, was considered equally attractive. Attractiveness comparisons only compared the women in the same weight category. Pilot testing was conducted with 56 students from a public university primarily for women in the Southwest region of the U.S. Each profile picture (i.e., a Black, White, and Latina woman) was rated by participants who identified as that race/ethnicity. Furthermore, pilot testing was conducted in order to verify that images were viewed appropriately in terms of weight status. In other words, images of thin women were rated as thin, whereas images of an overweight woman were rated as overweight. Pilot testing was conducted on the non-person profile image used for the

person either challenging or perpetuating the fat talk. Pilot tests were run on a number of images (i.e., siding, cement, sand) to determine which images were considered to be the most neutral. Once the most neutral image was determined, the investigator used that image for the profile picture of the person either challenging or perpetuating the fat talk.

The study design was a 2x2 factorial design. The independent variables were the weight status of the person engaging in the fat talk online and the challenging or continuation of fat talk. The dependent variables were body dissatisfaction, as measured by the Body Dissatisfaction subscale of the EDI-3 (Garner, 2004), and self-objectification, as measured by the SOQ (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998).

Descriptive statistics were run on all variables; means, ranges, and standard deviations (SD) were run on all continuous variables and frequencies and percentages were run on all categorical variables.

The statistical analyses for the first six hypotheses were 2 (thin vs. overweight) x 2 (fat talk continued vs. fat talk challenged) between subjects Analysis of Variances (ANOVAs), one on the Body Dissatisfaction Subscale of the EDI-3 and one on the SOQ. The last two hypotheses utilized exploratory linear regressions to examine the impact of variables other than the independent variables such as age, BMI, sexual orientation, and perceived weight (as measured by the Project EAT questions) on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification. Specific analysis plans by hypothesis are presented below.

Hypothesis 1, which predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of body dissatisfaction than those

who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk, was tested by a between subjects ANOVA.

Hypothesis 2, which predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of self-objectification than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk, were tested by a between subjects ANOVA.

Hypothesis 3, which predicted that participants who viewed the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of body dissatisfaction than those who viewed the perpetuation of fat talk, was tested by a between subjects ANOVA. Hypothesis 4, which predicted that participants who viewed the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of self-objectification than those who viewed the perpetuation of fat talk, was tested by a between subjects ANOVA. Hypothesis 5, which predicted that participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest level of body dissatisfaction; that those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of body dissatisfaction; that those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of body dissatisfaction; and that those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of body dissatisfaction, were tested with a between subjects ANOVA.

Hypothesis 6, which predicted that participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest levels of self-objectification; that those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of self-objectification; that those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of self-objectification; and that those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of self-objectification, were tested by a between subjects ANOVA.

Hypothesis 7, which predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict body dissatisfaction levels beyond that predicted by the independent variables, was tested with a multiple regression. Each racial/ethnic participant group (i.e., Latina, Black, and White) was examined independently.

Hypothesis 8, which predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict self-objectification levels beyond that predicted by the independent variables, was tested with a multiple regression. Each racial/ethnic participant group (i.e., Latina, Black, and White) was examined independently.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

Pilot Testing

Pilot testing on each of the images of the women in the profile pictures was conducted in order to determine if each woman, Black, Latina, and White, was considered equally attractive. Attractiveness comparisons only compared the women in the same weight category. Pilot testing was conducted with 56 students from a public university primarily for women in the Southwest region of the U.S. Each profile picture (i.e., a Black, White, and Latina woman) was rated by participants who identified as that race/ethnicity. Furthermore, pilot testing was conducted in order to verify that images were viewed appropriately in terms of weight status. In other words, images of thin women were rated as thin, whereas images of an overweight woman were rated as overweight. Participants were shown three different images of women who were either overweight or thin and of the same race/ethnicity as the participant. Participants were asked two questions, one asking to rate the weight of each image and one asking participants to rate the attractiveness of each image. Participants were asked to rate each image on a 5-point Likert scale, with 1 being considered very unattractive, and 5 being considered very attractive. Weight status was also rated on a 5-point Likert scale with 1 being considered very underweight, and 5 being considered very overweight. Pilot testing was also conducted on the non-person profile image used for the person either challenging or perpetuating the fat talk. Pilot tests were run on a number of images (i.e., siding, cement, sand) to determine which images were considered to be the most neutral. Ultimately, the image of the siding was seen as the most neutral and chosen for the study. Images with overall means that were closest to the appropriate weight status category, which also had relatively equal attractiveness ratings to other images across racial groups, were selected as the profile pictures of those engaging in fat talk for the actual study. See Table 4 below for overall means from pilot study.

Table 4

Pilot Study Overall Means

					Means				
		Black			White			Latina	
Image	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Q1									
Overweight	3.9	4.25	3.92	4	3.42	4.5	3.56	4	4.25
Normal	3.5	3.4	3	3	2.5	4	3.14	3.2	3.56
Q2									
Overweight	2.9	3.92	3.25	3.78	3.33	3.17	2.78	3.5	3.42
Normal	3.17	3.63	3.11	4	3.13	3.22	3.57	3.88	3.33

Note: Q1= How would you define this woman's weight? Q2=How would you describe this woman's level of attractiveness? For both Q1 and Q2, participants were asked to rate each image on a five point Likert Scale, with 1 considered very underweight (Q1) or very unattractive (Q2), and 5 considered very overweight (Q1) or very attractive (Q2).

Descriptive Statistics

Means and standard deviations were calculated for all continuous variables (dependent variables) on measures used in this study (see Table 5).

Table 5

Descriptive Data for Dependent Variables

	Mean	Possible Range	Actual Range	Standard Deviation
Variable				
SOQ Final Score	-2.3	-25.0 - 25.0	-25.0 - 25.0	12.9
EDI BD Final	14.6	0 - 40	0 - 40	8.2
Score				

Note: SOQ = Self-Objectification Questionnaire; EDI BD = Eating Disorder Inventory-3, Body Dissatisfaction scale

Scores on the SOQ reflect one's level of self-objectification. Scores can range from -25 to 25, with higher positive scores reflecting more focus on one's appearance, which in turn, reflect higher levels of self-objectification. The overall mean score for the current sample was -2.3, which indicates an overall low self-objectification score. Scores on the EDI BD reflect one's level of body dissatisfaction. Scores range from 0 to 40, with scores ranging from 0 to 7 reflecting low levels of body dissatisfaction, scores ranging from 8 to 30 reflecting moderate levels of body dissatisfaction, and scores ranging from 31 to 40 reflecting high levels of body dissatisfaction. The overall mean score of the current sample was 14.6, which indicates a score in the low-moderate range of body dissatisfaction.

Differences between groups on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale and the SOQ for ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, weight, BMI, and recruitment from a university or not, were also calculated. There were no significant differences between groups based on ethnic background, weight, age, BMI, sexual orientation, or university versus non-university-recruited participants on the SOQ. However, there was a difference

that was approaching significance t (611) = 1.77, p = .078, between those recruited from a Southwestern university in the U.S. predominantly for women and those recruited from social media (M = -.53), with those recruited from the university predominantly for women reporting less self-objectification (M = -2.76).

There were no significant differences between groups on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale for sexual orientation, recruitment from a university or not, and age. However, there were significant differences between ethnic groups, weight, and BMI on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale. A one-way ANOVA determined significant differences in scores on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale between groups based on weight: F(113, 499) = 1.94, p = .000.

A one-way ANOVA determined significant differences in scores on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale between groups based on BMI: F (346, 249) = 1.45, p = .001.

Lastly, a one-way ANOVA determined significant differences in scores on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale between groups based on race/ethnicity: F (2, 610) = 5.51, p = .004. There were differences in body dissatisfaction such that White (M = 14.94) and Latina (M = 15.55) participants had significantly higher body dissatisfaction scores than Black (M = 12.71) participants, higher-weight participants had significantly higher body dissatisfaction than those weighing less, and participants with higher BMIs had significantly higher body dissatisfaction than those with lower BMIs. See Table 6 for descriptive data and racial/ethnic group differences on the EDI-3 Body Dissatisfaction subscale.

Table 6

Ethnicity and EDI-3 BD Scores

Group	n	M	SD	Minimum	Maximum
Black	141	12.71*	7.34	0	29
White	266	14.94**	8.34	0	40
Latina	206	15.55**	8.26	0	40
Total	613	14.63	8.15	0	40

Note: M = Mean; SD = Standard Deviation; * indicates significantly differed from the White group; ** indicates significantly differed from the Black group.

Analyses for Major Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1. The researcher predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of body dissatisfaction than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk. The mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk was 15.03, while the mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk was 14.17. This hypothesis was not supported: F(1, 611) = 1.67, p = .195. After additional exploratory analyses revealed that participant race/ethnicity significantly predicted body dissatisfaction scores, an additional ANCOVA analysis was run to determine if there were significant impacts of weight when race/ethnicity was controlled for. This was not supported: F(1, 607) = 1.66, p = .199.

Hypothesis 2. The researcher predicted that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk would have significantly higher levels of self-objectification than

those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk. The mean self-objectification score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk was -2.48, while the mean self-objectification score for those who viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk was -2.04. This hypothesis was not supported: F(1, 611) = .179, p = .672.

Hypothesis 3. The researcher predicted that participants who view the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of body dissatisfaction than those who view the perpetuation of fat talk. The mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed the challenging of a fat talk conversation was 15.06, while the mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed the continuation of a fat talk conversation was 14.21. This hypothesis was not supported: F(1, 611) = 1.66, p = .198. After additional exploratory analyses revealed that participant race/ethnicity significantly predicted body dissatisfaction scores, an additional ANCOVA analysis was run to determine if there were significant impacts of fat talk challenging when race/ethnicity was controlled for. This was not supported: F(1, 607) = 1.21, p = .271.

Hypothesis 4. The researcher predicted that participants who view the challenging of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of self-objectification than those who view the perpetuation of fat talk. The mean self-objectification score for those who viewed the challenging of a fat talk conversation was -1.57, while the mean self-objectification score for those who viewed the continuation of a fat talk conversation was -2.99. This hypothesis was not supported: F(1, 611) = 1.906, p = .168.

Hypothesis 5. The researcher predicted that participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest level of body dissatisfaction; that those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of body dissatisfaction; that those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of body dissatisfaction; and that those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of body dissatisfaction. The mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was challenged was 14.30, while the mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk that was challenged was 15.68. The mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was continued was 14.04, while the mean body dissatisfaction score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk that was continued was 14.35. This hypothesis was not supported for either weight condition: F (1, 609) = 1.62, p = .203 or the fat talk condition: F(1, 609) = 1.44, p = .231. After additional exploratory analyses revealed that participant race/ethnicity significantly predicted body dissatisfaction scores, an additional ANCOVA analysis was run to determine if there was a significant interaction effect of weight and fat talk challenging when race/ethnicity was controlled for. This was not supported: F(1, 607) = .61, p =.434.

Hypothesis 6. The researcher predicted that participants who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the highest levels of self-objectification; that those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated by profile viewers would have the next highest levels of self-objectification; that those who viewed a thin woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the next lowest levels of selfobjectification; and that those who viewed an overweight woman who initiated fat talk that was then challenged by profile viewers would have the lowest levels of selfobjectification. The mean self-objectification score for those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was challenged was -.96, while the mean selfobjectification score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk that was challenged was -2.07. The mean self-objectification score for those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in fat talk that was continued was -3.09, while the mean self-objectification score for those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk that was continued was -2.91. This hypothesis was not supported for either the weight condition: F (1, 609) = .20, p = .655 or the fat talk condition: F(1, 609) = 2.05, p = .153.

Hypothesis 7. The researcher predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict body dissatisfaction levels beyond that predicted by the independent variables. This hypothesis was partially supported. The regression model determined that perceived weight significantly predicted body dissatisfaction level: F(4, 606) = 62.64, p = .000. The model also found that race/ethnicity predicted body dissatisfaction level: F(1, 611) = 9.53, p = .000

.002. See Table 7 for ANOVA Results of Hypothesis 7 showing that perceived weight significantly predicted body dissatisfaction levels. See Table 8 for Correlation coefficients for major variables (e.g., EDI total raw score, age, sexual orientation, participant BMI, and perceived weight), and see Table 9 for means and regression weights for each of these major variables.

Table 7

ANOVA Table for Hypothesis 7

Model	Sum of	df	Mean	F	Sig.
	Squares		Square		
Regression	11759.4	4	2939.9	62.640	.000
Residual	28441.0	606	46.9		
Total	40200.4	610			

Table 8

Correlation Coefficients for Major Variables

	EDI Total	Age	Sexual	Participant	Perceived
	Raw Score		Orientation	BMI	Weight
EDI Total	1				
Raw Score					
Age	.065	1			
Sexual	.011	.036	1		
Orientation					
Participant	.401**	.094*	.065	1	
BMI					
Perceived	.535**	.120**	.021	.663**	1
Weight					

Note: EDI = Eating Disorder Inventory; BMI = Body Mass Index; Perceived Weight = as measured by question 12 of the Project EAT questionnaire. * = Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level. ** = Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level.

Table 9

Regression Weights and Means

	В	Beta	Mean
EDI Total Raw Score	-	-	14.61
Age	.000	.000	20.48
Sexual Orientation	030	004	-
BMI	.117	.081	25.03
Perceived Weight	5.017	.484	-
Ethnicity	1.36	.124	-

Note: EDI = Eating Disorder Inventory; B = unstandardized weights; Beta = standardized weights

Hypothesis 8. The researcher predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict self-objectification levels beyond that predicted by the independent variables. This hypothesis was partially supported. The regression model determined that participant's BMI and perceived weight significantly predicted self-objectification level: F (4, 606) = 4.73, p = .001. See Table 10 for ANOVA Results of Hypothesis 8, which reveal that both perceived weight and participant's BMI significantly predicted self-objectification. See Table 11 for Correlation coefficients for major variables (e.g., SOQ final score, age, sexual orientation, participant BMI, and perceived weight), and see Table 12 for means and regression weights of these major variables.

Table 10

ANOVA Table for Hypothesis 8

Model	Sum of	df	Mean	F	Sig.
	Squares		Square		
Regression	3049.8	4	762.5	4.728	.001
Residual	97728.4	606	161.3		
Total	100778.2	610			

Table 11

Correlation Coefficients for Major Variables

	SOQ Final Score	Age	Sexual Orientation	Participant BMI	Perceived Weight
SOQ Final	1				
Score					
Age	.060	1			
Sexual	036	.036	1		
Orientation					
Participant	.002	.094**	.065	1	
BMI					
Perceived	.123**	.120**	.021	.662**	1
Weight					

Note: SOQ = Self-Objectification Questionnaire; BMI = Body Mass Index; Perceived Weight = as measured by question 12 of the Project EAT questionnaire. ** = Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level.

Table 12

Regression Weights and Means

	В	Beta	Mean
SOQ Final Score	-	-	-2.2422
Age	.159	.049	20.48
Sexual Orientation	416	034	-
BMI	321	140	25.03
Perceived Weight	3.485	.212	-
Ethnicity	564	033	-

Note: SOQ = Self-Objectification Questionnaire; *B* = unstandardized weights; Beta = standardized weights.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

In the discussion that follows, a summary of findings are provided and are integrated with the current literature and theory. Implications for research, training, and practice are noted, as are the strengths and limitations of the study. A final set of conclusions are presented at the end of the chapter.

Summary of Major Findings

The current investigation aimed to fill gaps in the literature by studying the impacts on women who viewed the fat talk conversations of overweight and thin women on Facebook. These fat talk conversations were either perpetuated or challenged by other Facebook users. Participants viewed either a thin or a fat woman who was of the same ethnicity as the participant. The impact on one's body dissatisfaction and self-objectification after viewing either a thin or overweight person engaging in fat talk that was either perpetuated or challenged was measured by 2 (thin vs. overweight) by 2 (fat talk continued vs. fat talk challenged) between subjects ANOVA. Two additional ANOVAs were run to measure differences between groups to assess body dissatisfaction and self-objectification. The impact of variables other than the independent variables, such as age, BMI, sexual orientation, and perceived weight (as measured by a Project EAT question) on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification were measured using a multiple regression.

The results failed to confirm any of the first six hypotheses, which in sum predicted that one's body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels would be significantly and differentially impacted by whether they viewed a normal weight versus overweight person engaging in fat talk that was either perpetuated or challenged.

The seventh and eighth hypotheses, which predicted that variables such as age, ethnicity, BMI, sexual orientation, and perceived weight would significantly predict levels of body dissatisfaction and self-objectification, beyond that of the independent variables, were partially supported.

In particular, one's perceived weight, as measured by one question on the Project EAT questionnaire, significantly predicted one's score on the Body Dissatisfaction scale of the EDI, such that the higher one's perceived weight, the higher her score on the Body Dissatisfaction scale of the EDI was. Racial and ethnic background also significantly predicted a participant's score on the Body Dissatisfaction scale of the EDI, with Latina and White women having significantly higher body dissatisfaction scores than Black women. Furthermore, BMI and perceived weight significantly predicted scores on the SOQ. The higher one's perceived weight, the higher she scored on the SOQ, reflective of a positive relationship between perceived weight and self-objectification. There was also slightly positive relationship between BMI and SOQ score, such that the higher one's BMI, the higher her score was on the SOQ. In sum, BMI and perceived weight predicted self-objectification and perceived weight and race/ethnicity predicted body dissatisfaction. No other demographic variables significantly predicted one's body dissatisfaction nor self-objectification levels.

Integration with Existing Literature

There were a number of reasons provided in the literature to support the prediction that those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk conversations would have higher levels of body dissatisfaction than those who viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk. For instance, Corning et al. (2014) found that size levels of a confederate engaging in fat talk differentially impacted body dissatisfaction levels in participants. Specifically, these researchers found that exposure to a thin confederate engaging in fat talk conversations significantly increased participants body dissatisfaction levels, while exposure to an overweight confederate engaging in fat talk did not. Similar results were found in a study that included similar methodology to the current study, viewing fat talk conversations through social media. Specifically, Lee et al. (2013) found that Korean women who viewed an underweight woman engaging in thin-promoting messages had significantly higher body dissatisfaction levels than those who viewed an overweight woman engaging in thin-promoting messages online.

In the current study, it was also predicted that those who viewed a normal weight woman engage in fat talk would have higher levels of self-objectification than those who viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk. However, these predictions were not supported in the findings of the current study, such that no significant difference was found between those who viewed a thin woman engage in fat talk versus those who viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk in terms of either body dissatisfaction levels or self-objectification levels.

There are a number of potential explanations for the lack of significance found among the hypotheses tested experimentally in this investigation. One explanation may be in the methodology of the study itself. It is possible that although instructions were given to participants to view the Facebook profile page carefully, which contained the fat talk conversations, there was no way to enforce such instruction and participants could have quickly clicked past viewing the fat talk conversations and moved on to the questionnaires immediately. Along a similar vein, even if a participant viewed the profile page for an extended period of time, this length have time might not have exposed participants to a significant enough stimulus to impact their body dissatisfaction and selfobjectification levels, such as in studies where participants witnessed fat talk and fat talk challenging conversations live (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012), as opposed to online. If fat talk challenging interrupts a schema, the common social norms for how one is to respond to fat talk being initiated, there may be something vital about viewing the fat talk and fat talk challenging that is less successful at interrupting a schema than witnessing it live. There are a number of potential variables that differ between the online interaction/fat talk conversation in this study and an interaction effect in person, which may cause less of an impact on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels. For instance, there is likely less emotional salience involved in viewing a conversation online versus in person due to the lack of non-verbal communication (e.g., body language and voice intonation). For instance, some researchers have argued that the majority of communication comes from non-verbal communication and things beyond the actual words used (Mehrabian & Ferris, 1967).

The fact that participants did not know the women engaging in the fat talk and fat talk challenging conversations in the current study, may have also led to a lesser impact on participants' body dissatisfaction and self-objectification. Perhaps, viewing an actual Facebook friend or peer engage in such conversations may have more of an emotional impact, and therefore, potentially more of an impact on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels.

Further, although Lee et al. (2013) found that Korean participants' levels of body satisfaction were significantly impacted when viewing a thin woman engage in thinpromoting messages, they did not find a relationship among their participants from the U.S. The explanation the authors provided was that within their collectivist culture, the Korean participants might have been more sensitive to the thin-promoting messages than the participants from the U.S. Although questions about nationality and acculturation were not included in the current study, it is possible that the majority of participants grew up in and identified with the U.S, a more individualistic culture, which may have impacted the findings in the current study. However, interestingly, the Black participants, who arguably have a more collectivistic culture in the U.S. when compared to White women, actually had lower levels of body dissatisfaction than White women. Such results appear to be opposite of those in the Lee et al. (2013) who argued that the collectivistic culture of the Korean participants may have been the reason they were seemingly more sensitive to the thin-promoting messages. Because of the lack of similar findings in the current study, it seems reasonable to explore the idea that there is something beyond the collectivistic nature of the Korean students that may have been

impacting the impact of viewing the thin-promoting messages. It may be the case that the thin beauty ideal is more pronounced within Asian cultures than African American cultures. Further, although body image concerns are still present within Black American culture, Capodilupo (2015) argued that such body comparisons are more often based on things such as skin tone and hair, as opposed to body weight, which is more commonly seen in White and Asian cultures.

Because Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2012) found positive implications of positive body talk and more specifically regarding the current study, fat talk challenging, it was predicted that those who viewed the challenging of fat talk versus the perpetuation of fat talk would have significantly lower levels of body dissatisfaction and significantly lower levels of self-objectification. The researcher also anticipated seeing an interaction effect in that those who viewed a thin woman engaging in fat talk that was perpetuated would have the highest levels of body dissatisfaction and highest levels of self-objectification. These predictions were also not supported in the findings in that no significant difference was seen between those who viewed challenging versus perpetuation of the fat talk and those who viewed a thin versus overweight woman. Similar explanations can be given for the lack of significant findings here. If participants quickly viewed the Facebook profile pages, then little to no impact would likely occur. Also, regardless of the fact that one viewed a challenge to the fat talk conversation versus a continuation, viewing this page for only moments at a time may not have been a significant enough stimulus to impact one's overall body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels. A number of variables may have to change in order for viewing the fat talk conversation, as opposed to

witnessing the conversation live, to be enough of a stimulus to interrupt the enactment of a schema or priming for the common social response to the initiation of fat talk (e.g., continuation of the fat talk). Possibilities include viewing the conversation for an extended period of time, viewing a conversation by someone personally known (e.g., a friend or family member on Facebook), or viewing the conversation multiple times (e.g., a fat talk conversation showing up multiple times on a Facebook newsfeed). More research is needed to explore all of the potential manipulations to determine which would result in a more significant stimulus.

Another potential issue in methodology which might explain the lack of significant findings may be in the fact that only a between-group comparison was conducted among participants and no pretests or posttests were completed. For instance, it may be possible that participants had significant changes in both their body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels before and after viewing the Facebook profile page and fat talk conversation. However, it is impossible to determine if such changes occurred without a pretest and posttest. Such tests were not provided due to the concern that such questionnaires would prime participants while looking at the profile pages, and response biases might have occurred. While response bias was likely avoided, significant findings may have also been missed as there was no way to determine the impact of viewing the fat talk conversations without first being aware of participant's baseline levels of body dissatisfaction and self-objectification.

It seems apparent that live exposure to fat talk conversations and challenging may have more significant implications for women. Numerous researchers have found that

those exposed to fat talk conversations have had negative impacts on their body satisfaction levels (Corning et al., 2014; Kichler & Crowther, 2009; Thompson et al., 2007) though there has not been widespread support that exposure to fat talk conversations significantly impacts one's self-objectification levels. In fact, in two previous studies that predicted participants' levels of self-objectification being significantly increased after exposure to fat talk, findings revealed the opposite occurring. Gapinski, Brownell, and LaFrance (2003) found that exposure to fat talk while being placed in a state objectifying environment, through trying on a bathing suit, had no significant impact on participant's affect level. Cory and Burns (2007) also found no significant impact on one's self-objectification levels when overhearing a live fat talk conversation. The authors suggested that the fat talk could have been viewed by the women participants as beneficial and a form of social support rather than being harmful. Furthermore, there were no previous studies, to the researcher's knowledge, that studied the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online through social media on one's selfobjectification level.

Another aspect of the sample in this study was that the majority of the sample (78.5%) was recruited from a Southwestern U.S. public university primarily for women, most of whom were psychology majors. Because of the unique setting, it is possible that more students identify as feminist than might at a traditionally co-educational university. While there is no way to clarify whether participants identified as feminist or not as this was not a question in the demographic questionnaire, there is some support for feminist identification serving as a protective factor for body image disturbances. For instance,

Mahalik, Morray, and Coonerty-Femiano (2005) posited that feminist women might challenge and question traditional gender roles, which emphasize bodies, appearance, and thinness. Further, Murnen and Smolak (2009) conducted a meta-analysis and found a strong association between feminist identity and positive body attitudes. They also found a significantly negative relationship between feminist identity and measures related to eating problems. While no significant differences in body dissatisfaction levels were observed between the participants recruited from the university predominantly for women versus those that were not, there were differences in self-objectification levels approaching significance with those recruited from the university predominantly for women scoring lower on the measure of self-objectification compared to participants not recruited from the university. While the significance may not have reached statistical significance, it could arguably be considered clinically significant (Ranganathan, Pramesh, & Buyse, 2015) and may reflect an environmental advantage of attending a university primarily for women.

Furthermore, regardless of from where participants were recruited, because there have been some tentative attempts toward more promoting body acceptance in the broader U.S. culture (Penney & Kirk, 2015), participants in general may have lower levels of body dissatisfaction and lower levels of self-objectification than we may have seen in years past. In fact, the basic descriptive statistics support this idea in that the mean score for the SOQ was -2.3 and the mean score on the Body Dissatisfaction scale of the EDI-3 was 14.6. The negative mean score on the SOQ demonstrates that the overall average score was indicative of more focus on one's body competence versus

appearance, (Noll & Fredrickson, 1998). Furthermore, the mean score of 14.6 on the Body Dissatisfaction Scale of the EDI-3 falls in the low-moderate range (Garner, 2004). According to Penney and Kirk (2015) there has been recent paradigm shift in the public health sphere of the U.S. away from the traditional approaches to weight management, which include beliefs around weight being closely tied to health, and the idea that anyone can lose weight and keep weight off if the proper diet and exercise is utilized. Instead, there has been some movement towards the tenets espoused by the Health at Every Size (HAES) movement, which promotes spending more time on self-compassion, acceptance around one's body, and intuitive eating (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). Such movement has slowly begun to spread into the broader culture and media as evidenced by commercials focusing on appreciating and accepting one's body (Bahadur, 2014), placing a plus-size model on one of the covers of *Sports Illustrated* swimsuit edition (Feldman & Oliver, 2016), and new, slightly larger body types of Barbie dolls (Dockterman, 2016). With such paradigm shifts in both public health and the broader culture, small and meaningful changes may also be evidenced in the thin beauty ideal, the internalization of the thin ideal, and consequently, women's body image and self-objectification, changes potentially evidenced in the current study.

The final two hypotheses, which predicted that a participant's ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, BMI, and perceived weight would all significantly predict body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels beyond that predicted by the conditions of the experiment, was partially supported. Participants' age and sexual orientation did not significantly predict their body dissatisfaction or self-objectification levels. However,

there were significant differences between groups scores on the EDI-3 BD scale, specifically between White and Black participants and Black and Latina participants. Race/ethnicity significantly predicted scores on the EDI-3 BD scale such that White participants reported more body dissatisfaction than Black participants, findings consistent with Grabe and Hyde's (2006) meta-analysis. However, unexpectedly, the results of the current study revealed that Latina participants had the highest scores on the EDI-3 BD, although not statistically significantly higher than White participants. This finding contradicts previous findings by Warren et al. (2005) who found that Latina women had lower body dissatisfaction than White women.

Similarly, age was a variable which did not significantly predict participant's scores on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification scales. While this finding was surprising given findings suggesting that late adolescent and young adult women between the ages of 15-40 are at highest risk for body image issues (Fredrickson & Roberts, 1997), several possibilities exist for why a lack of significance was found. Because of the fact that the ages of participants ranged from 18-35 with an average of 20.48 years and the majority (85.6%) between 18 and 24, the range itself may not have been large enough to detect a significant impact.

Lastly, sexual orientation did not significantly predict body dissatisfaction or self-objectification levels. The exploration of the relationship between sexual orientation and body dissatisfaction and self-objectification was somewhat novel as previous research on self-objectification has been conducted primarily with heterosexual women and sexual minority men (see, for example, Haines et al., 2008). While in this particular sample

sexual orientation did not significantly predict body dissatisfaction and selfobjectification levels, this relationship should be further explored with a sample with more variance in sexual orientation included, as roughly only 10% of the sample in the current study identified with an orientation other than heterosexual.

While sexual orientation and age did not significantly predict body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels, participants' perceived weight (the degree to which they rated themselves as under-, normal, or overweight) did significantly predict body dissatisfaction level and self-objectification level. Furthermore, BMI significantly predicted self-objectification and a trend was observed towards significantly predicting body dissatisfaction levels. Such findings are supported in the research literature such that BMI and perceived weight have been positively correlated with body dissatisfaction (Yates, Edman, & Aruguete, 2004). The finding that both BMI and perceived weight significantly predicted self-objectification is also supported in the literature such that some researchers have found an indirect relationship between BMI and self-objectification (Calogero, 2004) or used BMI as a co-variate that was controlled for when studying the relationship between self-objectification and body satisfaction (Frederick et al., 2007; Quinn et al., 2006).

Implications for Theory

Fat talk, which has been defined by Salk and Engeln-Maddox (2011) as conversations which include two or more individuals who are mutually degrading their own bodies, has become commonplace and easily recognizable within the U.S. among both men and women. According to Corning and Gondoli (2012), fat talk conversations

can include a number of themes such as exchanging dieting and eating tips, physically evaluating those who are not present, comparing of eating and exercise behaviors, and expressing fear of gaining weight or becoming fat. Such conversations are not inconsequential; in fact, exposure to fat talk conversations is related to dieting behaviors, increased body dissatisfaction levels, preoccupation with food, drive for thinness, and symptoms of eating disorders such as bulimia nervosa (Kichler & Crowther, 2009; Thompson et al., 2007).

In recent years, the amount of research conducted on social networking and the impacts of regularly viewing social media has increased exponentially. Such research has also included the potentially negative impacts of viewing social media on one's body image (Smith et al., 2013). Many have argued that social comparison theory (Festinger, 1954), the idea that people commonly compare themselves to like others, is especially prevalent within social media and social networking. Tantleff-Dubb and Gokee (2002) found a negative relationship between social comparison and positive thoughts about one's body.

Further, Perloff (2014) found that the combination of individual vulnerability characteristics (e.g., low self-esteem, depression, internalization of the thin beauty ideal) and amount of social media use do lead to increased body dissatisfaction and eating disorder symptomology. Rieger et al. (2010) argued similarly that social comparisons, which occur though social media, can indirectly influence body image and eating behaviors. However, unlike these previous studies, the current study found differing

results. Specifically, no significant impact on body dissatisfaction or self-objectification levels were seen from viewing the social media pages with fat talk conversations.

The current study aimed to broaden the research literature on fat talk and social media in a number of ways. First, the fact that only two previous studies (Lee et al., 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012) researched the impacts of viewing fat talk/thin-promoting conversations online through social media websites, meant that there was a relatively large gap in the fat talk and social media research literature. The largest aim of the current study was to broaden research examining these impacts of viewing, versus engaging in or overhearing, fat talk conversations using a U.S. sample. In neither of the two previous similar studies were any significant impacts of viewing fat talk conversations found on body dissatisfaction when solely looking at the participants from the U.S. Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al. (2013) posited that the collectivistic culture that the Korean and Japanese students allowed for them to be more sensitive to the thin-promoting messages. However, in the current study, the arguably more collectivistic Black women had lower body dissatisfaction scores overall, so it may have in fact been the combination of collectivistic culture and the presence of a thin beauty ideal for the Asian women in Taniguchi and Lee (2012) and Lee et al.'s (2013) studies. What remains unanswered is whether there is something about the viewing, versus overhearing or witnessing fat talk live, that creates a protective factor for the potential negative impacts of fat talk.

Lastly, the current studied aimed to extend upon what is known about objectification theory (Fredrickson & Roberts, 1997) and fat talk by exploring how

viewing fat talk and fat talk challenging conversations online through social media, impacted women's self-objectification levels. In previous studies, contrary to the researcher's predictions, exposure to fat talk actually had a comforting impact on those placed in a self-objectification condition, or no impact, as opposed to an exacerbating effect (Cory & Burns, 2007; Gapinski et al., 2003). The current study found similar results such that there was no significant differences in self-objectification levels between those that viewed an overweight woman engage in fat talk versus a thinner woman. There was also no significant difference between self-objectification levels in those who viewed the continuation of fat talk versus those who viewed the fat talk challenging. So as with the previously mentioned studies, contrary to predictions, there was no significant impact on self-objectification levels by viewing fat talk or fat talk challenging conversations.

Implications for Practice

There are a number of recommendations that the American Psychological Association ([APA], 2007) made to psychologists to guide their work with girls and women that are relevant to the current investigation. First, being aware of and familiar with the ways in which other diversity variables (e.g., age, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, sexual orientation, size, and ability) can impact therapy is necessary for psychologists working with girls and women (APA, 2007). Specifically, the finding in the current study around the significant role race/ethnicity appears to play in body dissatisfaction as operationalized by weight (e.g., Black participants having significantly lower body dissatisfaction than White and Latina participants), are important factors to keep in mind. Further, recent research has revealed that while Black women have body

image concerns and compare themselves to other Black women, the type of body image concerns appear to be based less on weight and more based on other factors (e.g., having long, straight hair and lighter skin tone) (Capodilupo, 2015). These findings undergird the importance of not assuming Black women adhere to the White standards of beauty. Further, even if a Black female client is not struggling with body image issues around weight, psychologists should be aware of the potential for the presence of other body image concerns.

Psychologists should also be attentive to the extent to which girls and women may engage in and witness fat talk among her and her friends and family. As ubiquitous as fat talk conversations are among women (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011), fat talk conversations or discussions about one's body may arise naturally from the client without specific exploration by the psychologist. It is possible that a psychologist may witness a client having such a conversation (e.g., while in the waiting room with a friend, in group psychotherapy, while conducting outreach programs on university campuses). Discussing fat talk and its impact on clients, particularly girls and women, is important to process and explore. Additionally, fat talk conversations and the desire to engage in such conversations can be normalized, while simultaneously incorporating psychoeducation around the negative impacts of such conversations. Conversely, conversations around the power of challenging fat talk conversations can both educate and empower clients to make impactful changes in their own life and the lives of others.

It is also important for psychologists to be aware of the thin beauty ideal and the societal pressure placed on all women to achieve such an ideal (Cash & Pruzinsky, 2004).

Psychologists should understand the impact that media and the societal standard of beauty can have on all girls and women and understand that a girl or woman's physical and mental health may be highly impacted by economic, societal, and cultural factors (APA, 2007). While mass media is often seen as the source of thin-promoting messages (Grabe et al., 2008), fat talk conversations between women can also contribute to the increased internalization of the thin beauty ideal and increased body dissatisfaction among women. Given that a substantial number of girls and women utilize social media daily (Facebook, 2011a), such experiences may display an opportunity for discussion and processing in therapy. In fact, Perloff (2014) found that the interactive nature, presence of peers, and multitude of visual images present with social media all impact body image and body dissatisfaction via peer normative processes and negative social comparisons. Given such results, it may be important for psychologists and their clients to discuss such negative implications of social media use and for psychologists to provide psychoeducation around the potential impacts of regularly viewing social media sites.

In addition to such understanding and awareness, it is important to assess and explore how such standards and societal expectations might impact female clients.

Initiating such conversations might allow not only for a further process of normalization, but also the processing of one's emotions tied to such societal messages and pressures.

The current study's findings did not support the idea that viewing fat talk conversations through social media has a significantly negative impact on one's self-objectification and body dissatisfaction levels. While more research is needed, it is possible that having distance from witnessing a fat talk conversation live, and rather than viewing such a

conversation through social media, may protect clients from having negative impacts on their body dissatisfaction and self-objectification. However, it is likely still worth exploring client's amount of social media exposure and exposure to fat talk on social media, as some researchers have found significant impacts for some participants, particularly those from collectivistic cultures (Lee et al., 2013; Taniguchi & Lee, 2012).

Psychologists should also be aware of the fact that girls and women are at a much higher risk for developing eating disorders, depression, and anxiety disorders than boys and men and that they seek mental health services at a much higher rate than men (APA, 2007). Along with having the aforementioned knowledge and awareness, the APA (2007) recommends that psychologists work towards being sensitive to gender biases and strive to empower the girls and women with whom they work.

Implications for Training

While being exposed to electronic conversations about fat talk may not negatively impact women as expected, there still appear to be a number of clear consequences of engaging in fat talk or overhearing fat talk conversations (Kichler & Crowther, 2009). Accordingly, instructors should make trainees aware of how prevalent such consequences are for those exposed to fat talk. Those in training roles should stay apprised of the fat talk and social media literature and explore and discuss these with trainees, as well as trainees' beliefs and ideas about fat talk perpetuated on social media.

Furthermore, although no significant difference was seen between body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels in participants who viewed fat talk that was perpetuated versus fat talk that was challenged, there is still much evidence outside of the

current study to support the benefits of fat talk challenging (Barwick et al., 2012; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012). Those in training roles should discuss with students why fat talk challenging can have significant benefits. Further, such discussions can expose trainees to potential forms of empowerment and social justice, consistent with the tenets of feminism and Counseling Psychology (Kennedy & Arthur, 2014).

Given that the most scholarship regarding fat talk conversations is relatively recent (Corning et al., 2014; Corning & Gondoli, 2012; Thompson et al., 2007), few trainees may be aware of the negative impacts and consequences of fat talk conversations. Facilitating such discussion about fat talk, in itself, may enhance awareness of trainees to not only stop engaging in fat talk themselves, but also help to challenge others to discontinue these conversations when they see it.

Implications for Research

An aim of this study was to determine the impact of one's demographic variables on self-objectification and body dissatisfaction. While more research has been done on the relationship between racial/ethnic background and body image, less research has been done on the relationship between racial ethnic background and self-objectification.

Further, little research has been conducted on the relationship between sexual orientation and body dissatisfaction and self-objectification (Haines et al., 2008). In spite of limited research, Davids and Green (2011) found that bisexual men and women, heterosexual women, and gay men and lesbians had significantly higher levels of body dissatisfaction than heterosexual men. However, others, such as Rothblum (2014), have noted mixed results regarding differences in body dissatisfaction and body image concerns between

lesbian and heterosexual women. This researcher, in spite of the mixed results, encouraged lesbian women to take the lead in beginning to remove weight stigma.

In the current study, sexual orientation did not significantly predict neither selfobjectification nor body dissatisfaction levels. While further exploring the relationship
between sexual orientation, body dissatisfaction, and self-objectification was one aim of
this study, the lack of more variance of sexual orientation among the participants may
have been an impediment to detecting a relationship. Conversely, it may be that sexual
orientation serves as a protective factor for body image disturbances and selfobjectification; however, further research using larger non-heterosexual samples is
needed to draw more definitive conclusions.

As noted, the stimulus used (e.g., viewing one short conversation on a Facebook profile page for an undetermined amount of time) may not have been a strong enough stimulus to alter body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels. Therefore, future research should further explore the impacts of increasing the stimulus in different ways. For instance, it may be that if one saw a longer fat talk/fat talk challenging conversation, or multiple fat talk and fat talk challenging conversations over time, more of an impact might be seen on self-objectification and body dissatisfaction levels. Furthermore, if the researcher could have ensured participants spent some degree of time looking at the Facebook page, results may have been different. Lastly, viewing fat talk conversations by peers, friends, or family, may make the viewing of that conversation more emotionally salient, and therefore, potentially allowing for more of an impact on body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels.

Another manipulation of experimental design that may have an impact would be to change the language used within the fat talk. Although the script for the current study was directly taken from a study which found significant impacts in their results (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012), it may be that the language used in the fat talk conversation may impact body dissatisfaction and self-objectification such that future researchers may vary language (e.g., using more emotionally-charged language) to see if the focus and nature of the script employed has an effect.

Although, consistent with most studies in this area of scholarship, Body Mass Index (BMI) was used as a variable in this study, recent literature has discussed the importance of refraining from the sole use of BMI in practice due to the inaccurate nature of BMI measurements. For instance, Tomiyama, Hunger, Ngyuyen-Cuu, and Wells (2016) specifically explored the amount of cardiometabolic health misclassifications when using BMI alone. These researchers found that over 70 million people are misclassified as either cardiometabolically unhealthy or healthy when BMI is used as the sole measure. These researchers encouraged policymakers to consider moving away from the use of BMI as an isolated measure of health.

Strengths of the Study

In most previous studies on fat talk and self-objectification, the majority of the participants have been White undergraduate students (Arroyo & Harwood 2012; Corning et al., 2014; Moradi & Huang, 2008; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011; Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012). The current study had a much more ethnically diverse sample, with less than half of the sample identifying as White. Additionally, the current study researched

the differences in the impact of viewing fat talk based on one's racial/ethnic background. Also noteworthy is that the current study utilized both a university and a non-university sample. This study also studied the impact of viewing fat talk conversations with women of different sizes, something few others have done. The diversity of the sample and the novelty of exploring the electronic manifestation of fat talk conversations contributes uniquely to the fat talk literature.

Lastly, the fact that this study researched the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations online through social media on U.S.' participants' self-objectification makes it unique, and the only study to date, to the researcher's knowledge, to do so. While the results from the experimental conditions did not prove to be significant, the novelty of the study and the exploratory findings regarding ethnicity, BMI, perceived weight, and the potential buffering impact of attending a university primarily for women all contribute to the literature.

Limitations of the Study

There were a number of limitations in the present study. First of all, because data were collected online, the researcher had little control over the data collection process.

The researcher was unable to control whether the same participants participated numerous times. Also, there was no way to determine if participants accurately filled out demographic information (i.e., age, gender, race/ethnicity, height, weight, education, etc.).

The fact that the majority of the participants (78.5%) came from a university predominantly for women may have impacted the results. While there is no way to

determine the number of participants who identified with feminist ideologies, it may be that those participants who attend a university predominantly for women are somehow inherently different than the general population of women. Moreover, the finding that the university participants reported less self-objectification than those recruited from social media reveals a difference in the two groups.

The fact that there was no built in mechanism to guarantee participants viewed the profile pages with the fat talk conversations for at least a few moments was another limitation of the study. Specifically, there was no way to know how long participants actually viewed the Facebook profile pages and it is possible that participants quickly clicked through the page in spite of directions telling them to do otherwise. Further, it is possible that because of the brevity of the conversation itself and the lack of emotionally intense language, this conversation may not have served as a significant enough stimulus to create changes in body dissatisfaction and self-objectification levels.

A final limitation was the fact that the images selected for the profile pictures may not have fallen perfectly between the CDC categories of Overweight I and Obese for the overweight woman images, and the CDC categories of normal and underweight for the thin woman images (CDC, 2014). For instance, none of the overweight images selected from the pilot study testing were given an average ranking of a 5, which represented "very overweight," and none of the thin images selected from the pilot study testing were given a score below a 3, which represented "normal weight." In other words, the discrepancy between the thin and overweight images may not have been sufficient to have had a significant impact on viewers.

Conclusion

Fat talk conversations, defined as discussions in which two or more people mutually degrade their own bodies (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2011), have become increasingly commonplace among women in the U.S. Such conversations are also associated with a number of consequences including increased preoccupation with food, increase in dieting behaviors, drive for thinness, body dissatisfaction, and eating disorder symptomology (Kichler & Crowther, 2009; Thompson et al., 2007). However, some researchers have found that engaging in or overhearing the challenging of such fat talk conversations can actually serve as a protective factor against the previously discussed consequences (Salk & Engeln-Maddox, 2012).

While no significant results were found on body dissatisfaction and selfobjectification of viewing continued or challenged fat talk in an overweight or thin
woman, the final two hypotheses were partially supported. Specifically, participants'
perceived weight did significantly predict body dissatisfaction, and both BMI and
perceived weight significantly impacted self-objectification levels. Moreover, exploratory
findings revealed that participants' race/ethnicity also significantly predicted their body
dissatisfaction levels and although not statistically significant, large differences were
observed in levels of self-objectification based recruitment source, with those recruited
from a university predominantly for women having lower levels of self-objectification
than those recruited from social media Continued research should be conducted to
discover the potential impacts of viewing fat talk conversations and fat talk challenging.

It may be particularly important to attempt to control the amount of time one views a

conversation in order to increase the likelihood of participants actually paying close attention to the viewing of fat talk through social media. Future research should also include a more varied sample in terms of sexual orientation, as the current study may have not had enough sexual minorities to truly determine if sexual orientation could significantly affect body dissatisfaction and self-objectification. Lastly, given rates of eating disorders, the sexualization of girls and women, and restrictive standards of beauty in our culture, more research examining potential protective factors and prevention of fattalk conversations, self-objectification, body dissatisfaction, and disordered eating is needed.

REFERENCES

- Abrams, L. S., & Stormer, C. C. (2002). Sociocultural variations in the body image perceptions of urban adolescent females. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *31*, 443-450. doi:10.1023/A:1020211103936
- Adams, R. (May 27th, 2014). *How 'fat talk' became a social epidemic--And how you can stop it.* Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/05/27/fat-talk-women_n_5331507.html?utm_hp_ref=tw
- Aiken, L. (1985). *Psychological testing and assessment* (5th Ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon, Inc.
- American Psychiatric Association (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychological Association (2007). Guidelines for psychological practice with girls and women. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/practice/guidelines/girls-and-women.pdf
- Arroyo, A., & Harwood, J. (2012). Exploring the causes and consequences of engaging in fat talk. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 40, 167-187. doi:10.1080/00909882.2012.654500

- Bahadur, N. (2014). Dove 'real beauty' campaign turns 10: How a brand tried to change the conversation about female beauty. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/01/21/dove-real-beauty-campaign-turns-10_n_4575940.html
- Bailey, S. D., & Ricciardelli, L. A. (2010). Social comparisons, appearance related comments, contingent self-esteem and their relationships with body dissatisfaction and eating disturbance among women. *Eating Behaviors*, 11, 107-112. doi:10.1016/j.eatbeh.2009.12.001
- Bair, C.E., Kelly, N.R., Serdar, K.L., & Mazzeo, S.E. (2012). Does the internet function like magazines? An exploration of image-focused media, eating pathology, and body dissatisfaction. *Eating Behaviors*, *13*, 398-401. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2012.06.003
- Barwick, A., Bazzini, D., Martz, D., Rocheleau, C., & Curtin, L. (2012). Testing the norm to fat talk for women of varying size: What's weight got to do with it? *Body Image*, 9, 176-179. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2011.08.003
- Becker, A. E., Burwell, R. A., Herzog, D. B., Hamburg, P., & Gilman, S. E. (2002).

 Eating behaviours and attitudes following prolonged exposure to television among ethnic Fijian adolescent girls. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *180*, 509-514. doi:10.1192/bjp.180.6.509
- Bodell, S., & Hook, A. (2011). Using Facebook for professional networking: A modern-day essential. *The British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74, 588-590. doi:10.4276/030802211X13232584581533

- Bordo, S. (2004). *Unbearable weight: Feminism, western culture, and the body*. Ewing, NJ: University of California Press.
- Breines, J. G., Crocker, J., & Garcia, J. A. (2008). Self-objectification and well-being in women's daily lives. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *34*, 583-598. doi:10.1177/0146167207313727
- Britton, L. E., Martz, D. M., Bazzini, D. G., Curtin, L. A., & LeaShomb, A. (2006). Fat talk and self-presentation of body image: Is there a social norm for women to self-degrade? *Body Image*, *3*, 247-254. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2006.05.006
- Brown, J. D., & Bobkowski, P. S. (2011). Older and newer media: Patterns of use and effects on adolescents' health and well-being. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21, 95-113. doi:10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00717.x
- Calogero, R. M. (2004). A test of objectification theory: The effect of the male gaze on appearance concerns in college women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 28*, 16-21 6p. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2060/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN=106683767&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Calogero, R.M., Herbozo, S., & Thompson, J.K. (2009). Complimentary weightism: the potential costs of appearance-related commentary for women's self-objectification. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 33*, 120-132.
- Capodilupo, C.M. (2015). One size does not fit all: Using variables other than the thin ideal to understand black women's body image. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 21, 268-278. doi: 1099-9809/15.

- Carper, T. L. M., Negy, C., & Tantleff-Dunn, S. (2010). Relations among media influence, body image, eating concerns, and sexual orientation in men: A preliminary investigation. *Body Image*, 7, 301-309. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2010.07.002
- Cash, T. F., & Brown, T. A. (1987). Body image in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa: A review of the literature. *Behavior Modification, 11*, 487-521.

 Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=psyh&AN=1988-36175-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Cash, T. F., & Henry, P. E. (1995). Women's body images: The results of a national survey in the U.S.A. *Sex Roles*, *33*, 19-28. doi:10.1007/BF01547933
- Cash, T. F. & Pruzinsky, T. (1990). *Body images: Development, deviance, and change.*New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Cash, T. F. & Pruzinsky, T. (Eds.). (2004). *Body image: A handbook of theory, research, and clinical practice*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Castells, M. (2007) Communication power and counter power in the network society.

 International Journal of Communication, 1, 238-266. doi: 1932-8036/20070238
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2012). Fast Stats. Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/body-measurements.htm
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Healthy weight-it's not a diet, it's a lifestyle! Retrieved from
 - http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/adult_bmi/index.html

- Chou, H. G., & Edge, N. (2012). "They are happier and having better lives than I am":

 The impact of using Facebook on perceptions of others' lives. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior and Social Networking, 15*, 117-121. doi:10.1089/cyber.2011.0324
- Clarke, P. M., Murnen, S. K., & Smolak, L. (2010). Development and psychometric evaluation of a quantitative measure of "fat talk." *Body Image*, 7, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.09.006
- Compeau, A., & Ambwani, S. (2013). The effects of fat talk on body dissatisfaction and eating behavior: The moderating role of dietary restraint. *Body Image*, 10, 451-461. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.04.006
- Connelly, L. M. (2011). Research roundtable. Cronbach's alpha. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 20(1), 45-44. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2060/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=58721794&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Corning, A. F., Bucchianeri, M. M., & Pick, C. M. (2014). Thin or overweight women's fat talk: Which is worse for other women's body satisfaction? *Eating Disorders:*The Journal of Treatment & Prevention, 22, 121-135.

 doi:10.1080/10640266.2013.860850
- Corning, A. F., & Gondoli, D. M. (2012). Who is most likely to fat talk? A social comparison perspective. *Body Image*, *9*, 528-531. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2012.05.004

- Corning, A. F., Krumm, A. J., & Smitham, L. A. (2006). Differential social comparison processes in women with and without eating disorder symptoms. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *53*, 338-349. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.53.3.338
- Cory, A. L., & Burns, S. R. (2007). What did she say? An examination of the influence of conversation and media exposure on participants' body objectification and anxiety. *Psi Chi Journal of Undergraduate Research*, *12*, 97-103. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=a9h&AN=27603500&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Daniel, S., & Bridges, S. K. (2010). The drive for muscularity in men: Media influences and objectification theory. *Body Image*, 7, 32-38. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.08.003
- Davids, C.M., & Green, M.A. (2011). A preliminary investigation of body dissatisfaction and eating disorder symptomatology with bisexual individuals. *Sex Roles*, 65, 533-547. doi: 10.1007/s11199-011-9963-y.
- Davila, J., Hershenberg, R., Feinstein, B. A., Gorman, K., Bhatia, V., & Starr, L. R. (2012). Frequency and quality of social networking among young adults:

 Associations with depressive symptoms, rumination, and corumination.

 Psychology of Popular Media Culture, 1, 72-86. doi:10.1037/a0027512
- de Vries, D. A., & Peter, J. (2013). Women on display: The effect of portraying the self online on women's self-objectification. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 1483-1489. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2013.01.015

- Dindia, K., & Allen, M. (1992). Sex differences in self-disclosure: A meta-analysis.

 *Psychological Bulletin, 112, 106-124. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.106
- Dockterman, E. (2016, February 8). A Barbie for every body. *Time*. 44-51.
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2007). The benefits of Facebook 'friends:' social capital and college students' use of online social network sites. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 12, 1143-1168. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00367.x
- Engeln, R., Sladek, M.R., & Waldron, H. (2013). Body talk among college men: Content, correlates, and effects. *Body Image*, *10*, 200-208. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.02.001
- Facebook fact sheet. (2011a). Retrieved from http://www.facebook.com/press/info.php?facsheet
- Facebook fact sheet. (2011b). Retrieved from http://www.facebook.com/press/info.php?statistics
- Facebook key facts. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.newsroom.fb.com/Key-Facts.
- Feingold, A., Mazzella, R. (1998). Gender differences in body image are increasing.

 Psychological Science, 9, 190-195.
- Feinstein, B. A., Hershenberg, R., Bhatia, V., Latack, J. A., Meuwly, N., & Davila, J.
 (2013). Negative social comparison on Facebook and depressive symptoms:
 Rumination as a mechanism. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 2, 161-170.
 doi:10.1037/a0033111

- Feldman, J., & Oliver, D. (2016). Sports illustrated just made history by putting a plussize model on its cover. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/plus-size-sports-illustrated-swim-ashley-graham_us_56c08f74e4b08ffac1259e70
- Ferguson, C. J., Muñoz, M. E., Garza, A., & Galindo, M. (2013). Concurrent and prospective analyses of peer, television and social media influences on body dissatisfaction, eating disorder symptoms and life satisfaction in adolescent girls.

 **Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, doi:10.1007/s10964-012-9898-9
- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*, *7*, 117-140. doi: 10.1177/001872675400700202
- Fikkan, J., & Rothblum, E. (2012). Is fat a feminist issue? Exploring the gendered nature of weight bias. *Sex Roles*, 66, 575-592. doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0022-5
- Frederick, D. A., Forbes, G. B., Grigorian, K. E., & Jarcho, J. M. (2007). The UCLA body project I: Gender and ethnic differences in self-objectification and body satisfaction among 2,206 undergraduates. *Sex Roles*, *57*, 317-327. doi: 10.1007/s11199-007-9251-z
- Fredrickson, B. L., & Roberts, T. (1997). Objectification theory: Toward understanding women's lived experiences and mental health risks. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *21*, 173-206. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.1997.tb00108.x

- Fredrickson, B. L., Roberts, T., Noll, S. M., Quinn, D. M., & Twenge, J. M. (1998). That swimsuit becomes you: Sex differences in self-objectification, restrained eating, and math performance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75, 269-284. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.269
- Frieze, I. H., Olson, J. E., & Russell, J. (1991). Attractiveness and income for men and women in management. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 21, 1039-1057. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1991.tb00458.x
- Gapinski, K. D., Brownell, K. D., & LaFrance, M. (2003). Body objectification and "Fat talk": Effects on emotion, motivation, and cognitive performance. *Sex Roles, 48*, 377-388. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=eue&AN=507826420&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Garner, D. M. (1997). The 1997 body image survey results. *Psychology Today, 30*, 30.

 Retrieved from

 http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir

 ect=true&db=hxh&AN=9701294607&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Garner, D.M. (2004). *Eating Disorder Inventory-3 (EDI-3)*. Lutz, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- Garner, D. M., Garfinkel, P. E., Schwartz, D., & Thompson, M. (1980). Cultural expectations of thinness in women. *Psychological Reports*, *47*, 483-491. doi:10.2466/pr0.1980.47.2.483

- Grabe, S., & Hyde, J. S. (2006). Ethnicity and body dissatisfaction among women in the United States: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *132*, 622-640. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.4.622
- Grabe, S., Ward, L. M., & Hyde, J. S. (2008). The role of the media in body image concerns among women: A meta-analysis of experimental and correlational studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, *134*, 460-476. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.134.3.460
- Gruys, K. (2012). Does this make me look fat? Aesthetic labor and fat talk as emotional labor in a women's plus-size clothing store. *Social Problems*, *59*, 481-500. doi:10.1525/sp.2012.59.4.481
- Haferkamp, N., Kramer, N.C. (2011). Social comparison 2.0: Examining the effects of online profiles on social-networking sites. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 14, 309-314. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0120
- Haines, M. E., Erchull, M. J., Liss, M., Turner, D. L., Nelson, J. A., Ramsey, L. R., & Hurt, M. M. (2008). Predictors and effects of self-objectification in lesbians.
 Psychology of Women Quarterly, 32, 181-187. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00422.x
- Haines, J., & Williams, C. L. (2003). Coping and problem solving of self-mutilators. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 59, 1097-1106. doi:10.1002/jclp.10202
- Harrison, K., & Hefner, V. (2006). Media exposure, current and future body ideals, and disordered eating among preadolescent girls: A longitudinal panel study. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *35*, 153-163. doi:10.1007/s10964-005-9008-3

- Holmstrom, A. J. (2004). The effects of the media on body image: A meta-analysis.

 **Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 48, 196-217. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=a9h&AN=15961572&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Hospers, H. J., & Jansen, A. (2005). Why homosexuality is a risk factor for eating disorders in males. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 24, 1188-1201. doi:10.1521/jscp.2005.24.8.1188
- Jankowski, G. S., Diedrichs, P. C., & Halliwell, E. (2014). Can appearance conversations explain differences between gay and heterosexual men's body dissatisfaction?

 *Psychology of Men & Masculinity, 15, 68-77. doi:10.1037/a0031796
- Joinson, A. N. (2008). 'Looking at', 'Looking up' or 'Keeping up with' people? Motives and uses of Facebook Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=ega&AN=ega234578&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Junco, R. (2012). The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Computers & Education*, 58, 162-171. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2011.08.004
- Kalpidou, M., Costin, D., & Morris, J. (2011). The relationship between Facebook and the well-being of undergraduate college students. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior*, and Social Networking, 14, 183-189. doi:10.1089/cyber.2010.0061
- Keel, P. K., & Forney, K. J. (2013). Psychosocial risk factors for eating disorders.

 International Journal of Eating Disorders, 46, 433-439. doi:10.1002/eat.22094

- Kennedy, B.A., & Arthur, N. (2014). Social justice and counselling psychology:

 Recommitment through action. *Canadian Journal of Counselling & Psychotherapy*, 48, 185-205.
- Kichler, J. C., & Crowther, J. H. (2009). Young girls' eating attitudes and body image dissatisfaction: Associations with communication and modeling. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 29, 212-232. doi:10.1177/0272431608320121
- Larson, N., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., van den Berg, P., & Hannan, P.J. (2011)

 Identifying correlates of young adults' weight behavior: Survey development.

 American Journal of Health Behavior, 35, 712-725. doi: 10.1037/t06908-000
- Leary, M. R., Nezlek, J. B., Downs, D., Radford-Davenport, J., Martin, J., & McMullen, A. (1994). Self-presentation in everyday interactions: Effects of target familiarity and gender composition. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 664-673. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.67.4.664
- Lee, H. E., Taniguchi, E., Modica, A., & Park, H. (2013). Effects of witnessing fat talk on body satisfaction and psychological well-being: A cross-cultural comparison of korea and the United States. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *41*, 1279-1295. doi:10.2224/sbp.2013.41.8.1279

- Levine, M. P., & Smolak, L. (1996). Media as a context for the development of disordered eating. In L. Smolak, M. P. Levine & R. Striegel-Moore (Eds.), *The developmental psychopathology of eating disorders: Implications for research, prevention, and treatment,* (pp. 235-257). Hillsdale, NJ England: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?dir ect=true&db=psyh&AN=1996-97870-010&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Lipsman, A., Mud, G., Rich, M., & Bruich, S. (2012). The power of "like": How brands reach (and influence) fans through social-media marketing. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 52, 40-52. doi:10.2501/JAR-52-1-040-052
- Lyndon, A., Bonds-Raacke, J., & Cratty, A. D. (2011). College students' Facebook stalking of ex-partners. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 14*, 711-716. doi:10.1089/cyber.2010.0588
- Mabe, A.G., Forney, K.J., Keel, P.K. (2014). Do you "like" my photo? Facebook use maintains eating disorder risk. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 1-8. doi: 10.1002/eat.22254
- Mahalik, J. R., Morray, E. B., & Coonerty-Femiano, A. (2005). Development of the conformity to feminine norms inventory. *Sex Roles*, *52*, 417-435. doi:10.1007/s11199-005-3709-7

- Manago, A. M., Taylor, T., & Greenfield, P. M. (2012). Me and my 400 friends: The anatomy of college students' Facebook networks, their communication patterns, and well-being. *Developmental Psychology*, 48, 369-380. doi:10.1037/a0026338
- Martin, J., & Govender, K. (2011). 'Making muscle junkies': Investigating traditional masculine ideology, body image discrepancy, and the pursuit of muscularity in adolescent males. *International Journal of Men's Health*, *10*(3), 220-239. doi:10.3149/jmh.1003.220
- Martz, D. M., Petroff, A. B., Curtin, L., & Bazzini, D. G. (2009). Gender differences in fat talk among American adults: Results from the psychology of size survey. *Sex Roles*, *61*, 34-41. doi:10.1007/s11199-009-9587-7
- Mazer, J. P., Murphy, R. E., & Simonds, C. J. (2007). I'll see you on 'Facebook': The effects of computer-mediated teacher self-disclosure on student motivation, affective learning, and classroom climate. *Communication Education*, *56*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/03634520601009710
- McElhone, S., Kearney, J. M., Giachetti, I., Zunft, H. J., & Martínez, J.A. (1999). Body image perception in relation to recent weight changes and strategies for weight loss in a nationally representative sample in the European Union. *Public Health Nutrition*, 2, 143-151. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=cmedm&AN=10933634&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Mehrabian, A., Ferris, S.R. (1967). Inference of attitudes from nonverbal communication in two channels. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, *31*, 248-252. Doi: org/10.1037/h0024648.
- Moradi, B. (2011). Objectification theory: Areas of promise and refinement. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *39*, 153-163. doi:10.1177/0011000010384279
- Moradi, B., & Huang, Y. (2008). Objectification theory and psychology of women: A decade of advances and future directions. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *32*, 377-398. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00452.x
- Moreno, M.A., Jelenchick, L.A., Egan, K.G., .Cox, E., Young, H., Gannon, K.E., Becker,
 T. (2011). Feeling bad on Facebook: Depression disclosures by college students on a social networking site. *Depression & Anxiety* (1091-4269), 28, 447-455.
 doi:10.1002/da.20805
- Morrison, M. A., Morrison, T. G., & Sager, C. (2004). Does body satisfaction differ between gay men and lesbian women and heterosexual men and women? A meta-analytic review. *Body Image*, *1*, 127-138. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2004.01.002
- Murnen, S., & Smolak, L. (2009). Are feminist women protected from body image problems? A meta-analytic review of relevant research. *Sex Roles*, 60, 186-197. doi:10.1007/s11199-008-9523-2
- Muth, J. L., & Cash, T. F. (1997). Body-image attitudes: What difference does gender make? *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 27, 1438-1452. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.1997.tb01607.x

- National Association of Anorexia Nervosa and Associated Disorders (2014). *Eating disorder statistics*. Retrieved from http://www.anad.org/get-information/about-eating-disorders/eating-disorders-statistics/
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Croll, J., Story, M., Hannan, P. J., French, S. A., & Perry, C. (2002). Ethnic/racial differences in weight-related concerns and behaviors among adolescent girls and boys: Findings from project EAT. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *53*, 963-974. doi:10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00486-5
- Nichter, M. (2000). Fat talk: What girls and their parents say about dieting. Cambridge, MA US: Harvard University Press.
- Nichter, M., & Vuckovic, N. (1994). Fat talk: Body image among adolescent girls. *Many Mirrors*, 109-31. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=egi&AN=508664026&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Niwa, K. D., & Mandrusiak, M. N. (2012). Self-injury groups on Facebook. *Canadian Journal of Counseling & Psychotherapy*, 46, 1-20. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=ehh&AN=72319944&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Noll, S.M., & Fredrickson, B.L. (1998). A mediational model linking self-objectification, body shame, and disordered eating. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 22, 623-636.

 Retrieved from

 http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct

 =true&db=psyh&AN=1998-03353-007&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Nowatzki, J., & Morry, M. M. (2009). Women's intentions regarding, and acceptance of, self-sexualizing behavior. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *33*, 95-107. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.01477.x
- O'Keeffe, G. S., & Clarke-Pearson, K. (2011). The impact of social media on children, adolescents, and families. *Pediatrics*, 127, 800-804. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-0054
- Olivardia, R., Pope, H. G. J., & Hudson, J. I. (2000). Muscle dysmorphia in male weightlifters: A case-control study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *157*, 1291-1296. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.8.1291
- Ousley, L., Cordero, E. D., & White, S. (2008). Fat talk among college students: How undergraduates communicate regarding food and body weight, shape and appearance. *Eating Disorders: The Journal of Treatment & Prevention*, 16, 73-84. doi:10.1080/10640260701773546
- Payne, L. O., Martz, D. M., Tompkins, K. B., Petroff, A. B., & Farrow, C. V. (2011).

 Gender comparisons of fat talk in the United Kingdom and the United States. *Sex Roles*, 65, 557-565. doi:10.1007/s11199-010-9881-4

- Penney, T. L. Kirk, S. (2015). Framing health matters. The health at every size paradigm and obesity: Missing empirical evidence may help push the reframing obesity debate forward. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, e38-e42. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302552
- Pope, H., Phillips, K.A., & Olivardia, R. (2000). The Adonis complex: The secret crisis of male body obsession. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Poran, M. A. (2006). The politics of protection: Body image, social pressures, and the misrepresentation of young black women. *Sex Roles*, *55*, 739-755. doi: 10.1007/s11199-006-9129-5
- Perloff, R. M. (2014). Social media effects on young women's body image concerns: theoretical perspectives and an agenda for research. *Sex Roles*, *71*, 363-377. doi: 10.1007/s11199-014-0384-6.
- Puhl, R. M., & Heuer, C. A. (2009). The stigma of obesity: A review and update. *Obesity*, 17, 941-964. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2060/login.aspx?direc t=true&db=s3h&AN=38029442&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Quinn, D. M., Kallen, R. W., Twenge, J. M., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). The disruptive effect of self-objectification on performance. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *30*, 59-64. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2006.00262.x
- Ranganathan, P., Pramesh, C. S., & Buyse, M. (2015). Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Clinical versus statistical significance. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, 6, 169-170. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.159943

- Ridgeway, R. T., & Tylka, T. L. (2005). College men's perceptions of ideal body composition and shape. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *6*, 209-220. doi:10.1037/1524-9220.6.3.209
- Rieger, E., Van Buren, D. J., Bishop, M., Tanofsky-Kraff, M., Welch, R., & Wilfley, D. E. (2010). An eating disorder-specific model of interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT-ED): Causal pathways and treatment implications. *Clinical Psychology Review, 30*, 400-410. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.02.001
- Rodin, J., Silberstein, L., & Striegel-Moore, R. (1984). Women and weight: A normative discontent. *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, *32*, 267-307. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=psyh&AN=1989-29311-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Rolland, S. E., & Parmentier, G. (2013). The benefit of social media: Bulletin board focus groups as a tool for co-creation. *International Journal of Market Research*, *55*, 809-827. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=psyh&AN=2014-01109-004&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Rosen, J. C. (1990). Body-image disturbances in eating disorders. In T. F. Cash & T. Pruzinsky (Eds.), *Body images: Development, deviance, and change*. (pp. 190-214). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Rothblum, E.D. (2014). Commentary: Lesbians should take the lead in removing the stigma that has long been associated with body weight. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 1, 377-382. doi: org/10.1037/sgd0000065.

- Rucker, C. E. & Cash, T. F. (1992). Body images, body-size perceptions, and eating behaviors among African-American and White college women. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 12, 291-299. doi: 10.1002/1098-108X(199211)12:3<291::AID-EAT2260120309>3.0.CO;2-A
- Rudiger, J. A. (2010). Fat talk between friends: Co-rumination about physical appearance. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering, 71. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=psyh&AN=2010-99140-395&site=ehost-live&scope=site. (2010-99140-395).
- Rudiger, J. A., & Winstead, B. A. (2013). Body talk and body-related co-rumination:

 Associations with body image, eating attitudes, and psychological adjustment. *Body Image*, 10, 462-471. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.07.010
- Rutledge, C. M., Gillmor, K. L., & Gillen, M. M. (2013). Does this profile picture make me look fat? Facebook and body image in college students. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 2, 251-258. doi:10.1037/ppm0000011
- Salk, R. H., & Engeln-Maddox, R. (2011). "If you're fat, then I'm humongous!": Frequency, content, and impact of fat talk among college women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *35*, 18-28. doi:10.1177/0361684310384107
- Salk, R. H., & Engeln-Maddox, R. (2012). Fat talk among college women is both contagious and harmful. *Sex Roles*, 66, 636-645. doi:10.1007/s11199-011-0050-1

- Schienker, B. R. (1975). Self-presentation: Managing the impression of consistency when reality interferes with self-enhancement. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology, 32*, 1030-1037. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sih&AN=16689716&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Schilder, P. (1950). *The image and appearance of the human body*. New York, NY: International Universities Press.
- Seligman, M. (2011). Facebook: Friend or faux? *Journal of Infant, Child & Adolescent Psychotherapy*, 10, 415-421. doi:10.1080/15289168.2011.618424
- Silberstein, L. R., Mishkind, M. E., Striegel-Moore, R., & Timko, C. (1989). Men and their bodies: A comparison of homosexual and heterosexual men. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *51*, 337-346. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=psyh&AN=1989-40500-001&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Slevec, J., & Tiggemann, M. (2011). Media exposure, body dissatisfaction, and disordered eating in middle-aged women: A test of the sociocultural model of disordered eating. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 35, 617-627. doi:10.1177/0361684311420249
- Smith, A. (2012) Facebook reaches one billion users. CNN Money. Retrieved from: http://money.cnn.com/2012/10/04/technology/facebook-billion-users/index/html?hpt=hp_t3.

- Smith, A. R., Hames, J. L., & Joiner, T.E., Jr. (2013). Status update: Maladaptive Facebook usage predicts increases in body dissatisfaction and bulimic symptoms. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 149, 235-240. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.032
- Smolak, L., & Murnen, S. K. (2008). Drive for leanness: Assessment and relationship to gender, gender role and objectification. *Body Image*, *5*, 251-260. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2008.03.004
- Stice, E., & Bearman, S. K. (2001). Body-image and eating disturbances prospectively predict increases in depressive symptoms in adolescent girls: A growth curve analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, *37*, 597-607. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.37.5.597
- Stice, E., Maxfield, J., & Wells, T. (2003). Adverse effects of social pressure to be thin on young women: An experimental investigation of the effects of 'fat talk'.

 International Journal of Eating Disorders, 34, 108-117. doi:10.1002/eat.10171
- Swim, J. K., Hyers, L. L., Cohen, L. L., & Ferguson, M. J. (2001). Everyday sexism:

 Evidence for its incidence, nature, and psychological impact from three daily diary studies. *Journal of Social Issues*, *57*, 31-53. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=4325888&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Szymanski, D. M., Carr, E. R., & Moffitt, L. B. (2011). Sexual objectification of women: Clinical implications and training considerations. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *39*, 107-126. doi:10.1177/0011000010378450

- Szymanski, D. M., & Henning, S. L. (2007). The role of self-objectification in women's depression: A test of objectification theory. *Sex Roles*, *56*, 45-53. doi:10.1007/s11199-006-9147-3
- Taniguchi, E., & Lee, H.E. (2012). Cross-cultural differences between Japanese and American female college students in the effects of witnessing fat talk on Facebook. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 41, 260-278. doi: 10.1080/17475759.2012.728769
- Tantleff-Dunn, S. & Gokee, J.L. (2002). Interpersonal influences on body image development. In Cash & Pruzinsky (Eds.), Body image: A handbook of theory, research, and clinical practice (pp. 108-116). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Taylor, M. J., & Cooper, P. J. (1986). Body size overestimation and depressed mood. *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology / the British Psychological Society*, 25, 153-154. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=3730654&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- The Center for Eating Disorders at Sheppard Pratt. (March 28, 2012). *Body image friend or foe? How is Facebook affecting the way you feel about your body?* Retrieved from http://eatingdisorder.org/blog/2012/03/body-image-friend-or-foe-how-is-facebook-affecting-the-way-you-feel-about-your-body/

- The Renfrew Center Foundation for Eating Disorders (2003). *Eating disorders 101*guide: A summary of issues, statistics and resources. Retrieved from
 http://www.anad.org/get-information/about-eating-disorders/eating-disorders-statistics/
- Thompson, J. K., & Heinberg, L. J. (1999). The media's influence on body image disturbance and eating disorders: We've reviled them, now can we rehabilitate them?

 **Journal of Social Issues, 55, 339-353. doi:10.1111/0022-4537.00119
- Thompson, J. K., Shroff, H., Herbozo, S., Cafri, G., Rodriguez, J., & Rodriguez, M. (2007). Relations among multiple peer influences, body dissatisfaction, eating disturbance, and self-esteem: A comparison of average weight, at risk of overweight, and overweight adolescent girls. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32, 24-29. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsl022
- Thompson, J. K., & Stice, E. (2001). Thin-ideal internalization: Mounting evidence for a new risk factor for body-image disturbance and eating pathology. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10, 181. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&db=a9h&AN=6590579&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Thompson, J. K., & Thompson, C. M. (1986). Body size distortion and self-esteem in asymptomatic, normal weight males and females. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 5, 1061-1068. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=12058412&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Thompson, S.H., & Lougheed, E. (2012). Frazzled by Facebook? An exploratory study of gender differences in social network communication among undergraduate men and women. *College Student Journal*, 46, 88-98.
- Tiggemann, M., & Boundy, M. (2008). Effect of environment and appearance compliment on college women's self-objectification, mood, body shame, and cognitive performance. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *32*, 399-405. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00453.x
- Tiggemann, M., & Slater, A. (2001). A test of objectification theory in former dancers and non-dancers. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 25, 57-64. doi:10.1111/1471-6402.00007
- Tiggemann, M.A., & Slater, A. (2013). NetGirls: The Internet, Facebook, and body image concern in adolescent girls. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46, 630-633. doi:10.1002/eat.22141
- Tomiyama, A.J., Hunger, J.M., Nguyen-Cuu, J., Wells, C. (2016). Misclassification of cardiometabolic health when using body mass index categories in NHANES 2005–2012, *International Journal of Obesity*, accepted article preview 4 February 2016. doi:10.1038/ijo.2016.17.
- Tompkins, K. B., Martz, D. M., Rocheleau, C. A., & Bazzini, D. G. (2009). Social likeability, conformity, and body talk: Does fat talk have a normative rival in female body image conversations? *Body Image*, *6*, 292-298. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.07.005

- Tucker, K. L., Martz, D. M., Curtin, L. A., & Bazzini, D. G. (2007). Examining 'fat talk' experimentally in a female dyad: How are women influenced by another woman's body presentation style? *Body Image*, *4*, 157-164. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2006.12.005
- TWU fact sheet. (2012). Retrieved from http://www.twu.edu/downloads/ir/FactSheet.pdf
- Valenzuela, S., Park, N., & Kee, K. F. (2009). Is there social capital in a social network site?: Facebook use and college students' life satisfaction, trust, and participation. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 14(4), 875-901. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009
- Vandenbosch, L., & Eggermont, S. (2012). Understanding sexual objectification: A comprehensive approach toward media exposure and girls' internalization of beauty ideals, self-objectification, and body surveillance. *Journal of Communication*, 62, 869-887. doi:10.1111/j.1460-2466.2012.01667.x
- Wardle, J., Haase, A. M., & Steptoe, A. (2006). Body image and weight control in young adults: International comparisons in university students from 22 countries.

 International Journal of Obesity, 30, 644-651. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803050
- Warren, C. S., Gleaves, D. H., Cepeda-Benito, A., del Carmen Fernandez, M., & Rodriguez-Ruiz, S. (2005). Ethnicity as a protective factor against internalization of a thin ideal and body dissatisfaction. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 37, 241-249. doi:10.1002/eat.20102
- Warren, C. S., Holland, S., Billings, H., & Parker, A. (2012). The relationships between fat talk, body dissatisfaction, and drive for thinness: Perceived stress as a moderator. *Body Image*, 9, 358-364. doi:10.1016/j.bodyim.2012.03.008

- White, V. E., Trepal-Wollenzier, H., & Nolan, J. M. (2002). College students and self-injury: Intervention strategies for counselors. *Journal of College Counseling*, *5*, 105-113. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=507793803&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Williamson, D.A., Barker, S.E., Bertman, L.J., & Gleaves, D.H. (1995). Body image,
 body dysphoria, and dietary restraint: Factor structure in nonclinical subjects.
 Behaviour Research and Therapy, 33, 85-93. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)E0031-D
- Wollner, S., Blackburn, D., Spellman, K., Khaodhiar, L., & Blackburn, G. (2010).
 Weight-loss programs in convenient care clinics: A prospective cohort study.
 American Journal of Health Promotion, 25, 26-29. doi:10.4278/ajhp.08923-ARB-208
- Yates, A., Edman, J., & Aruguete, M. (2004). Ethnic differences in BMI and body/self-dissatisfaction among Whites, Asian subgroups, Pacific Islanders, and African-Americans. *Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, 34*, 300-307. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2048/login?url=http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2060/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=15040999&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Appendix A

Demographics Questionnaire

Demographics Questionnaire

Type a check next to the box which best describes you, or type in your answer:

1. Age:					
2. Gender:					
Woman					
Intersex					
Transgender					
Male to Female					
3. Race/Ethnicity:					
African/African American/Black, non-Hispanic					
European/White, non-Hispanic					
Hispanic/Latino(a)					
4. Sexual Orientation:					
Heterosexual					
Lesbian					
Gay					
Bisexual					
Queer					
Other (specify:)					
5. Highest Degree Earned:					
6. Your Personal Annual Income, before taxes:					
7. Parents' Annual Income, before taxes:					
8. Weight in pounds:					
9 Height: Feet Inches					

Appendix B

Project EAT Questions

Body Satisfaction

	1.	How	satisfied	are	vou	with	vour
--	----	-----	-----------	-----	-----	------	------

1 = very dissatisfied

5 = very satisfied

- a. height
- b. weight
- c. body shape
- d. waist
- e. hips
- f. thighs
- g. stomach
- h. face
- i. body build
- j. shoulders
- 2. During the past six months, how important has your weight or shape been in how you feel about yourself?
- 1 Weight and shape were not very important
- 2 Weight and shape played a part in how I felt about myself
- 3 Weight and shape were among the main things that affected how I felt about myself
- 4 Weight and shape were the most important things that affected how I felt about myself
- 3. At this time, do you feel that you are:
- 1 very underweight
- 2 somewhat underweight
- 3 about the right weight
- 4 somewhat overweight
- 5 very overweight

Appendix C

Self-Objectification Questionnaire

The Self-Objectification Questionnaire

We are interested in how people think about their bodies. The questions below identify 10 different body attributes. We would like you to *rank order* these body attributes from that which has the *greatest impact* on your physical self-concept (rank this a "9"), to that which has the *least impact* on your physical self-concept (rank this a "0").

Note: It does not matter *how* you describe yourself in terms of each attribute. For example, fitness level can have a great impact on your physical self-concept regardless of whether you consider yourself to be physically fit, not physically fit, or any level in between.

Please first consider all attributes simultaneously, and record your rank ordering by writing the ranks in the rightmost column.

IMPORTANT: Do Not Assign the Same Rank to More Than One Attribute/ When considering your physical self-concept...

> 9 = greatest impact 8 = next greatest impact 1 = next to least impact

0 = least impact

1.	What rank do you assign to physical coordination?	
2.	What rank do you assign to health?	
3.	What rank do you assign to weight?	
4.	What rank do you assign to strength?	
5.	What rank do you assign to sex appeal?	
6.	What rank do you assign to physical attractiveness?	
7.	What rank do you assign to energy level (e.g., stamina)?	
8.	What rank do you assign to sculpted muscles?	
9.	What rank do you assign to physical fitness level?	
10	. What rank do you assign to measurements (e.g., chest, waist, hips)?	

Appendix D

The Body Dissatisfaction Subscale of the Eating Disorder Inventory-3

Due to the EDI-3 (Garner, 2004) being copyrighted material, a copy of the Body

Dissatisfaction subscale cannot legally be included as an appendix. However, permission
and rights were granted to utilize this survey by Psychological Assessment Resources

(PAR).

Appendix E

Informed Consent

TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

Title: Impacts of Viewing Online Social Media Conversations between Women

Investigator: Ally Wade, M.A. (972) xxx-xxxx or awade1@twu.edu

Advisor: Debra Mollen, Ph. D....(940) 898-2317

Explanation and Purpose of the Research

You are being asked to participate in a research study for Ally Wade's dissertation at Texas Woman's University. The purpose of this study is to obtain more knowledge about Facebook users' responses to various posts and threads.

Research Procedures

For this study, you will view a Facebook profile page and be asked questions about your opinions about the page as well as complete a total of 3 instruments. A short demographic questionnaire will also be included. When you get to the bottom of each screen, click "next" to move to the next set of questions. Your total time commitment in this study is estimated to be between 15 and 20 minutes.

Potential Risks

Potential risks related to your participation in the study include fatigue, embarrassment, and psychological or emotional discomfort while completing the survey packet. You may take a break (or breaks) while completing the surveys at anytime, to avoid fatigue. You may stop answering any of the questions if you start to experience embarrassment or discomfort from the survey questions. A list of referral sources will be made available to you in the event you wish to discuss your discomfort with a mental health professional.

Loss of confidentiality is another potential risk of participating in this study. However, confidentiality will be protected to the extent that is allowed by law. Completion of surveys will take place online, in any location of your choosing. Your responses and personal information are private and will be kept confidential. Your personal information, including your name and contact information, will be not be included in the actual survey materials. If you want to receive a summary of the results upon completion of the study, you will be directed to a different website within PsychData to enter your name and email address. This will ensure that no personal information will be connected with your survey responses. Your name will not be used on any survey material; instead, a participation ID number will be given. Only the principal investigator will have access to your personal information. You should be aware that there is a potential risk of loss of confidentiality in all e-mail transactions. However, all e-mails will be deleted after completion of the investigation in order to minimize this risk.

It is anticipated that the results of this study will be published in the investigator's dissertation as well as in other research publications. No names, or other identifying information, will be included in any publication.

Finally, loss of time is another potential risk of participating in this research project. Again, your participation is completely voluntary and you can withdraw from the study at any time without penalty.

If you have any problems or concerns, you are free to contact the principal investigator at anytime. You should let the researchers know right away if you have a concern or problem, and they will help you. However, TWU does not provide medical services or financial assistance for injuries that might happen because you are taking part in this research.

Participation and Benefits

You may discontinue answering the surveys at anytime without penalty, and your participation is completely voluntary. As a benefit for your participation, you can request to receive a summary of the results, via email, at the completion of the study.

Questions Regarding the Study

If you have any questions about the research study or informed consent information, you can contact the researcher and she will promptly answer. The contact information for the researcher is at the top of this form. If you have any questions about the way this study has been conducted, or your rights as a participant in this research, you may contact the Texas Woman's University Office of Research and Sponsored Programs at 940-898-3378 or via e-mail at IRB@twu.edu. You are also welcome to print a copy of this consent form to keep for your records.

Appendix F

List of Referral Sources

Links to Mental Health Professionals:

http://www.psychologytoday.com

http://locator.apa.org/

Link to the National Eating Disorders organization:

http://www.nationaleatingdisorders.org/get-help-today/

Referral Source Contact Information:

Texas Woman's University Counseling Center West Jones Hall P.O. Box 425350 Denton, TX 76204 Phone: (940) 898-3801

> Counseling Center of Denton 1512 Scripture Street Denton, TX 76201 Phone: (940)-382-5328

Appendix G

Debriefing

Thank you for your participation in the study. Now that you have completed the study we want you to have a better idea about what we were studying. We are interested in the impacts of viewing fat talk conversations on social networking sites. Fat talk conversations are commonly occurring among women and consist of women devaluing or criticizing parts of their body, or their exercise or eating behaviors.

Research has shown that taking part in, or hearing, these conversations can impact factors related to body image. We wanted to see if viewing these conversations online can have the same impacts, and this is why we asked you to complete these different questionnaires.

If at all possible, we would like for you to refrain from discussing this study's purpose and aims to other potential participants. Again, we appreciate your time and your willingness to participate. If you have any questions feel free to email the investigator at awade1@twu.edu.

Appendix H

Recruitment Letter

Title: Research Help Requested: Impacts of Viewing Online Social Media Conversations between Women

Hello, my name is Ally Wade. I am currently a doctoral candidate in the Counseling Psychology program at Texas Woman's University. I am conducting research about the impacts of viewing online conversations between women on social media websites. The purpose of the study is to obtain more knowledge about Facebook users' responses to various posts and threads. The title of my study is: Impacts of Viewing Online Social Media Conversations between Women.

If you are a **Black**, **White**, or **Latina woman**, between the ages of 18 and 35, and willing to fill out a short survey online, please consider participating in this study. Your contribution will be extremely beneficial for gaining knowledge about the impacts of viewing fat talk and fat talk challenging online.

Because your participation is completely voluntary, you may withdraw from the study at any time. If you are interested in participating, you will be directed to a Facebook profile page. After viewing the page, you will fill out an informed consent form, an online questionnaire about demographic information, and three other questionnaires. To participate, click below and follow the instructions on the website. The study should take between 15 and 20 minutes to complete. [website goes here] If you are interested in how the study turns out, you can request a summary of the results after the study is completed. If you have any questions, please contact me at awade1@twu.edu or XXX-XXXX-XXXX.

Thank you for your interest and time.

Ally Wade, M.A.

Appendix I

Stimulus Photos











